ANTI-PROLIFERATIVE AND APOPTOTIC EFFECT OF CANNABINOIDS ON HUMAN PANCREATIC DUCTAL ADENOCARCINOMA XENOGRAFT IN BALB/C NUDE MICE MODEL



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Veterinary Science and technology FACULTY OF VETERINARY SCIENCE Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2022 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University ผลของสารสกัดกัญชาในการยับยั้งการเจริญและกระตุ้นการตายแบบอะพอพโทซิสของเซลล์มะเร็งท่อ ตับอ่อนของมนุษย์ที่ปลูกถ่ายในหนูพร่องภูมิคุ้มกันชนิด BALB/c



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาวิทยาศาสตร์ทางการสัตวแพทย์และเทคโนโลยี ไม่สังกัดภาควิชา/เทียบเท่า คณะสัตวแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2565 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	ANTI-PROLIFERATIVE AND APOPTOTIC EFFECT OF			
	CANNABINOIDS ON HUMAN PANCREATIC DUCTAL			
	ADENOCARCINOMA XENOGRAFT IN BALB/C NUDE MICE			
	MODEL			
Ву	Mr. Quang Trung Le			
Field of Study	Veterinary Science and technology			
Thesis Advisor	Doctor KASEM RATTANAPINYOPITUK			
Thesis Co Advisor	Professor Doctor ANUDEP RUNGSIPIPAT			

Accepted by the FACULTY OF VETERINARY SCIENCE, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

	/ <u>//\$</u>	Dean of the FACULTY OF
		VETERINARY SCIENCE
	(Professor Doctor SANIPA SURADH	AT)
	V <u>{treesessing</u> V	
THESIS COMMIT	TEE CONTRACTOR	
		Chairman
	(Assistant Professor Doctor Kanyar	natt Kanokwiroon)
		Thesis Advisor
	(Doctor KASEM RATTANAPINYOPIT	UK)
		Thesis Co-Advisor
	(Professor Doctor ANUDEP RUNGS	IPIPAT)
		External Examiner
	(Doctor Nawin Manachai)	

ควาง ตรุง เล : ผลของสารสกัดกัญชาในการยับยั้งการเจริญและกระตุ้นการตายแบบอะพอพโทซิสของ เซลล์มะเร็งท่อตับอ่อนของมนุษย์ที่ปลูกถ่ายในหนูพร่องภูมิคุ้มกันชนิด BALB/c. (ANTI-PROLIFERATIVE AND APOPTOTIC EFFECT OF CANNABINOIDS ON HUMAN PANCREATIC DUCTAL ADENOCARCINOMA XENOGRAFT IN BALB/C NUDE MICE MODEL) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : เกษม รัตน ภิญโญพิทักษ์, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : อนุเทพ รังสีพิพัฒน์

มะเร็งท่อตับอ่อนในคนเป็นมะเร็งที่มีความร้ายแรงอย่างมากและมักทำให้ผู้ป่วยเสียชีวิต สารคาร์นาบินอยที่ สกัดจากพืชกัญชา Cannabis sativa ถูกนำมาใช้ในการรักษามะเร็งหลายชนิดในคน เนื่องจากมีฤทธิ์ในการต้านมะเร็ง ้อย่างไรก็ดีการศึกษาเกี่ยวกับฤทธิ์ของสารสกัดกัญชาในมะเร็งชนิดท่อตับอ่อนในคนยังมีน้อย ดังนั้นในงานวิจัยนี้จึงมี ้วัตถุประสงค์ในการศึกษาประสิทธิผลของสารสกัดกัญชาในการยับยั้งการเจริญและการกระตุ้นการเกิดการตายของเซลล์ แบบอะพ็อพโทซิสในมะเร็งท่อตับอ่อนของคนที่ปลูกถ่ายในหนูทุดลองพร่องภูมิคุ้มกัน ทำการปลูกถ่ายเซลล์เพาะเลี้ยงชนิด Capan-2 บริเวณใต้ผิวหนังของหนูพร่องภูมิคุ้มกันจำนวน 25 ตัว เมื่อก้อนเนื้องอกเจริญจนได้ขนาดประมาณ 200 ลูกบาศก์เซนติเมตร แบ่งหนูออกเป็น 5 กลุ่มการทดลอง ได้แก่ กลุ่มควบคุมลบ (NC) ที่ถูกป้อนด้วยน้ำมันงา ติดต่อกันทุก วันเป็นเวลา 30 วัน กลุ่มควบคุมบวก (PC) จะได้รับยา 5-FU ขนาด 20 มิลลิกรัมต่อกิโลกรัมน้ำหนักตัวเข้าทางช่องท้อง สัปดาห์ละ 3 ครั้ง และกลุ่มทดลองที่ป้อนสารสกัดกัญชาคานาบินอยด์ชนิด THC:CBD (1:6) ขนาด 1, 5 และ 10 มิลลิกรัม ต่อกิโลกรัมน้ำหนักตัวตามลำดับ ติดต่อกันทุกวันเป็นเวลา 30 วัน จากผลการทดลองพบว่า กลุ่มที่ได้รับสารสกัด THC:CBD (1:6) ก้อนเนื้องอกมีจำนวนเซลล์ที่แบ่งตัว และอัตราส่วนเซลล์ที่แบ่งตัวต่อเซลล์ที่เกิดการตายแบบอะพ็อพโทซิ สลดลงอย่างมีนัยสำคัญเมื่อเปรียบเทียบกับกลุ่มควบคุมลบ ซึ่งสอดคล้องกับการแสดงออกของยีนและโปรตีนที่เกี่ยวข้อง ้กับการเพิ่มจำนวนของเซลล์ (Ki-67 และ PCNA) ซึ่งพบว่ามีการแสดงออกลดลงอย่างมีนัยสำคัญเมื่อเปรียบเทียบกับกลุ่ม ้ควบคุมลบ นอกจากนี้ยังพบว่าสารสกัดกัญชา THC:CBD (1:6) เพิ่มการแสดงออกของ BAX อัตราส่วนของ BAX ต่อ BCL-2 และ Caspase-3 แต่ลดการแสดงออกของ BCL-2 ทั้งในระดับยีนและโปรตีน ทั้งนี้ไม่พบการเปลี่ยนแปลงการแสดงออก ของ Caspase-8 เมื่อเปรียบเทียบกับกลุ่มควบคุมลบ จากผลการทดลองสรุปได้ว่าสารสกัดกัญชา THC:CBD (1:6) ้สามารถยับยั้งการเจริญและกระตุ้นการเกิดการตายแบบอะพ็อตโทซิสในมะเร็งท่อตับอ่อนของคนที่ฝังในหนูทดลอง ทั้งนี้ ควรมีการศึกษาเพิ่มเติมเกี่ยวกับประสิทธิภาพของสารสกัดกัญชาชนิดต่าง ๆ รวมทั้ง THC:CBD เพิ่มเติมเพื่อใช้ในการรักษา มะเร็งท่อตับอ่อนในคนต่อไปในอนาคต.

Chulalongkorn University

สาขาวิชา	วิทยาศาสตร์ทางการสัตวแพทย์และ	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
	เทคโนโลยี	
ปีการศึกษา	2565	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
		ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม

6378501131 : MAJOR VETERINARY SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

KEYWORD: Anti-proliferative, apoptosis, cannabis, nude mouse xenograft model, pancreatic adenocarcinoma

Quang Trung Le : ANTI-PROLIFERATIVE AND APOPTOTIC EFFECT OF CANNABINOIDS ON HUMAN PANCREATIC DUCTAL ADENOCARCINOMA XENOGRAFT IN BALB/C NUDE MICE MODEL. Advisor: Dr. KASEM RATTANAPINYOPITUK Co-advisor: Prof. Dr. ANUDEP RUNGSIPIPAT

Human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) is a highly malignant and lethal tumor of the exocrine pancreas. Cannabinoids extracted from the hemp plant Cannabis sativa have been suggested as a cancer therapy due to their anti-tumor effects on several human tumors. However, the anti-tumor effect of cannabinoids on human PDAC is still understudied. Therefore, the objective of the current study is to study the inhibition of proliferation and the induction of apoptosis potencies of cannabinoids in PDAC xenograft nude mice model. The human PDAC cell line (Capan-2) was subcutaneously injected into twenty-five nude mice. After tumor reached 200 mm³ in volume, mice were randomly divided into five groups (5 mice/group), following: negative control (NC) (daily gavaged of sesame oil), positive control (PC) (intraperitoneal administration of 5-fluorouracil at 20 mg/kg body weight (BW), three-time/week), and cannabinoid-treated groups (daily gavaged of THC:CBD (1:6) solution at 1, 5, and 10 mg/kg BW for 30 days, respectively). The findings showed that THC:CBD (1:6) significantly decreased the mitotic cells and mitotic/apoptotic ratio, while the apoptotic cells were dramatically increased compared to the NC group. Parallelly, THC:CBD (1:6) significantly reduced the protein expression level of Ki-67 and PCNA relative to the NC group. Interestingly, THC:CBD (1:6) upregulated BAX, BAX/BCL-2 ratio, and Caspase-3 expression level, meanwhile, downregulated BCL-2 expression level and could not change Caspase-8 expression level relative to the NC group. These findings suggest that cannabinoid solution (THC:CBD at 1:6) could inhibit proliferation and induce apoptosis in human PDAC xenograft models. Cannabinoids, including THC:CBD, should be further studied for use as the potent PDCA therapeutic agent in humans.

Field of Study:

Academic Year:

Veterinary Science and technology 2022 Student's Signature

Advisor's Signature Co-advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Throughout the study, I have had learned precious knowledge as well as accumulated wonderful experiences which created a solid pedestal for the initial step in my scientific journey. I believe that the current MSc thesis would not have been possible without supervision, guidance, encouragement, and inspiration from various admirable collaborators. It would be a serious omission if these supports would not mention in this thesis book.

First and foremost, I would like to sincerely thank the Faculty of Veterinary Sciences, Chulalongkorn University for accepting me as an international student under the scholarship program for ASEAN or Non – ASEAN Countries supported by Chulalongkorn University. I would like to show my deepest appreciation for the entire lectures and staff of the Department of Veterinary Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University for their excellent teaching, inspiration as well as support throughout my study.

I gratefully acknowledge the National Cancer Institute and Department of Medical Services, Lerdsin hospital, Thailand for their kindly sharing with me an Honour project. The current study in this MSc thesis was financially supported by the National Cancer Institute, Thailand with the project grant, cell line; the animal experiment was conducted at the Department of Medical Services, Lerdsin hospital, Thailand.

I would like to express my sincere gratefulness and utmost appreciation to my principal advisor, Dr. Kasem Rattanapinyopituk, Department of Veterinary Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University for his invaluable advice, encouragement, and generous sharing of knowledge both scientifically and actually, which has enabled me to complete this thesis. Without your help, none of this would have been possible. He made me much more confident as a beginning scientist and researcher. Moreover, I am also greatly indebted to him for giving me the opportunity to publish the first international scientific journal, which is a memorable pole in my life. I would be lying if I said completing this thesis wasn't challenging and stressful. Thus, I warmest thanks for his patience and listening throughout the study. I hope that the first international student image is always impressive and beautiful in your heart.

I am much obliged to my co-advisor, Prof. Dr. Anudep Rungsipipat, head of the Department of Veterinary Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University for your support and for encouraging me to explore and experience to the limit. Without your help and guidance, this work would be definitely impossible.

I wish to express my deepest acknowledgment to Prof. Dr. Achariya Sailasuta, Department of Veterinary Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University, who is the first to accept me and gave me a precious opportunity to be approached with a wonderful education in a friendly nation. I would say that my dream may not come true without your kindhearted help. There is no word that can express my gratefulness to you, Ajarn!

I am grateful to Ms. Nuntana Meesiripan and Dr. Siriwan Sakarin, Division of Research and Academic support, National Cancer Institute, Bangkok, Thailand for their excellent contribution to this study. I am glad for your continual enthusiasm in generating the results for this thesis in one way or another.

I am deeply indebted to my committee members, Asst. Prof. Dr. Kanyanatt Kanokwiroon, Department of Biomedical Sciences and Biomedical Engineering, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University and Dr. Nawin Manachai, Department of Companion Animal and Wildlife Clinic, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Chiang Mai University for all their valuable guidance, encouragement, and constructive comments on my thesis.

My special thanks to all students and postdoctoral researchers in the Pathology lab, Department of Veterinary Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University for sharing the culture, friendship, and creating a warm atmosphere throughout the time of the course that I will cherish always. I learned so much from all of them and I hope that we continue to stay in touch. Especially, I would like to thank Dr. Panida Poonsin for technical support in the qRT-PCR part of my thesis.

I am very thankful to the Biochemistry Unit, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University for sharing the chemiluminescence machine with me. I am also extremely grateful for the support and kind teaching about the Western Blot technique from Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sayamon Srisuwattanasagul, Asst. Prof. Dr. Promporn Ruksaseri and their students, Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University.

I would like to extremely thank Can Tho University, College of Agriculture, and all my senior colleagues at the Department of Veterinary Medicine for the great allow and help during my study. I also wish to express my deep appreciation to Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tran Ngoc Bich, head of the Department of Veterinary Medicine, College of Agriculture, Can Tho University, who is always mentoring and constructive advice to my work as well as the orientations in the future. Your kindness is greatly appreciated. I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my Bachelor's supervisor, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Le Thi Men, Department of Animal Husbandry, College of Agriculture, Can Tho University, who is the most influential person not only in professional research but also in daily life. In my heart, you are not merely an advisor but also my second mother, who has kept me grounded throughout my life. Without your contribution and orientation, I would not continue my study.

I would especially like to thank Dr. Nguyen Thanh Lam, Department of Veterinary Medicine, College of Agriculture, Can Tho University for the encouragement, criticism, and guidance not only in the current work but also for invaluable suggestions in my future.

My sincere thank also goes to the Vietnamese team at the Faculty of Veterinary Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Dr. Nguyen Van Tin, Dr. Nguyen Che Thanh, Dr. Dong Nhut Khanh Van, and Mr. Tran Nhu Y, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University for sharing fun, sadness, failure, and success with me during my study period.

Last but not least, my heart goes out to my lovely family, my father, my mother, and my younger sister who always kind regard, encourage, and love me endlessly. This thesis is a little present that I dedicated to all of you.

Respectfully!



Quang Trung Le

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pa	ge
ABSTRACT (THAI)iii	i
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv	/
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv	1
TABLE OF CONTENTS	i
LIST OF TABLES	i
LIST OF FIGURESxii	i
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION)
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	}
2.1. Cannabinoids	}
2.2. Antitumor effect of cannabinoids)
2.2.1. Cannabinoids inhibit tumor cell proliferation)
2.2.2. Apoptosis induced by cannabinoids	
2.2.3. Cannabinoids inhibit the angiogenesis, invasion, and metastasis of tumor	
cell	b
2.2.4. Cannabinoids induced antitumor immunity	ļ
2.3. Cannabinoid effects on PDAC24	ļ
2.4. Conceptual framework)
CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS)
3.1. Animal model)
3.1.1. Animal ethics)
3.1.2. Human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cell line)

3.1.3. Cannabinoid solution preparation	26
3.1.4. Xenograft nude mouse model	27
3.2. Gross examination	
3.3. Sample collection	28
3.4. Histopathological study	28
3.4.1. Xenograft tumor examination	
3.4.2. Metastasis examination	29
3.5. Gene expression study	30
3.5.1. RNA extraction	30
3.5.2. Quantitative reverse transcription real-time PCR (qRT-PCR)	30
3.6. Protein expression study	31
3.6.1. Immunohistochemistry	31
3.6.2. Western blot	34
3.7. Statistical analysis	34
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	36
4.1. Gross examination	36
GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY 4.2. Histopathological study	37
4.2.1. Xenograft tumor examination	37
4.2.1.1. Tumor volume	37
4.2.1.2. Histopathological morphology of the xenograft tumors	38
4.2.1.3. Mitotic and apoptotic cell count (cells/HPF)	40
4.2.2. Metastasis examination	42
4.3. Gene expression study	42
4.4. Protein expression study	44

4.4.1. Immunohistoo	chemistry	
4.4.2. Western blot.		
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION		
REFERENCES		59
SUPPLEMENTATION		73
VITA		74



Х

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1: The sequences of qRT-PCR primer pairs using in the study	31
Table 2: The immunohistochemical primary antibody, working dilutions, antigen	
retrieval, and positive staining pattern	33
Table 3: The primary antibodies used for WB	34
Table 4: The distribution of six target protein expressions among experimental gro	ups
via IHC evaluation	46



LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1: The phase and checkpoints of the cell cycle (Modified from Israels and	
Israels, 2000; Kastan and Bartek, 2004)	. 20
Figure 2: The intrinsic and extrinsic apoptosis pathway. The intrinsic pathway is	
activated via intracellular stress, which regulates the BCL-2 protein family by	
promoting protein BAX, inhibiting protein BCL-2. The BAX/BCL-2 ratio imbalance lea	ads
to the release of cytochrome C, forming apoptosome via activation of Apaf-1,	
followed by activation of protein Caspase-9 and -3 that stimulate apoptosis. The	
extrinsic pathway initially begins from the stimulation of the death receptors on th	е
cell membrane. The activation of protein Caspase-8 is mainly related to the	
activation of death ligands (TNF, Fas) via interaction with death receptors. Once	
activated, protein Caspase-8 stimulates the activation of protein Caspase-3,	
consequently activating apoptosis (Modified from Hengartner, 2000; Adams and Co	ry,
2007)	. 22
Figure 3: The conceptual framework applied for the present study	. 25
Figure 4: The experimental design of the in vivo experiment	. 28
Figure 5: The macroscopic images of the representative mice injected with Capan-2	2
cell line on the 30 days of the treatment with THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW (a	a),
5 mg/kg BW (b), 10 mg/kg BW (c), NC group (d), and PC group (e). The transplanted	
tumors were found subcutaneously at the right flank region with ulceration and	
necrosis	. 36
Figure 6: The average tumor volume (mm ³) on day 0 (a) and day 30 (b) over the	
course of treatment, and percentage of tumor volume change (%) (c) among the N	IC
group, PC group, and treatment groups (THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg	2
BW, and 10 mg/kg BW). The values were presented as mean \pm SD. The statistical	

Figure 9: Histopathological morphology of the xenograft tumors among the treatment groups with THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW (a), 5 mg/kg BW (b), 10 mg/kg BW (c), NC group (d), and PC group (e) (H&E stained, 40X, scale bar = 50 μ m)......40 Figure 10: Histopathological morphology of the tumors in xenograft nude mice. The

tumors performed scattered mitotic cells (arrow) and apoptotic cells (arrowhead) in the treatment groups with THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW (a), 5 mg/kg BW (b), 10 mg/kg BW (c), NC group (d), and PC group (e) (H&E stained, 40X, scale bar = 50 μ m).

Figure 13: The mRNA expression of apoptotic-related genes: *BAX* (a), *BCL-2* (b), BAX/BCL-2 ratio (c), *Caspase-3* (d), and *Caspase-8* (e) among the NC group, PC group, and treatment groups (THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY**

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) is a highly malignant tumor and the most common neoplasm in the exocrine pancreas, appearing over 90% of all pancreatic malignancies (Wolfgang et al., 2013; Kleeff et al., 2016; Orth et al., 2019). The investigated data from patients associated with pancreatic cancer of the American Cancer Society estimated that high rates of men (79%) and women (80%) patients within the United States would die within the first year of diagnosis and the 5-year relative survival rate of lower than 10% (Siegel et al., 2021). The major causes leading to the ambiguous prognosis of pancreatic cancer patients can be mentioned as highly aggressive growth, early metastases of neoplastic cells to other organs prior to diagnosis, lack of diagnostic biomarkers, and poor response to therapeutic methods (Wolfgang et al., 2013; Kamisawa et al., 2016). Moreover, the anatomical location of the pancreas is also considered a disadvantage, requiring modern equipment and complex methods for early diagnosis. In fact, only a modest proportion of candidate patients (15-20%) are treated with surgical resection during the early stage of the disease (Stathis and Moore, 2010; Kamisawa et al., 2016). At present, although there are significant achievements within the control of pancreatic tumors based on the options including chemotherapy, targeted therapy, immunotherapy, and radiation therapy or optimal combination of individual methods together. It remains a major challenge because of a low response within the late stage of this disease and side effects of therapies (Kleeff et al., 2016; Orth et al., 2019). Therefore, continuously investigating novel, safe, and effective treatments for human pancreatic cancer is still under-investigated.

Herbal medicinal plants and their derivatives have been discovered and used for a long time as potential sources for the treatment of human cancers. Cannabinoid compounds have been reported to an antineoplastic activity since the 1970s (Munson et al., 1975), and until presently it promises therapeutic drugs for various *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies within human cancer cell lines (glioblastoma, leukemia, lung, breast, and pancreas) (Massi et al., 2004; Carracedo et al., 2006a; McKallip et al., 2006; Preet et al., 2008; Ramer et al., 2010; Guo et al., 2018). Cannabinoids have been shown to inhibit the proliferation and metastasis of tumor cells, correlate with apoptosis, autophagy, and enhance tumor immune surveillance (Sarfaraz et al., 2005; Michalski et al., 2008; Velasco et al., 2012; Kovalchuk and Kovalchuk, 2020). A combination of cannabinoids and radiotherapy offered an outstanding outcome within targeting treatment and improved the quality of life in pancreatic cancer patients (Robson, 2001; Yasmin-Karim et al., 2018). The therapeutic effects of cannabinoids have been performed in laboratory animal models, most commonly xenograft nude mice (Zhao et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2018; Yasmin-Karim et al., 2018). It is demonstrated that cannabinoids extremely reduce the progression of pancreatic tumors by selectively inducing apoptosis and inhibiting of proliferation within tumor cells (Carracedo et al., 2006a).

Even though greater than 60 cannabinoid compounds have been extracted from the hemp plant *Cannabis sativa*, cannabidiol (CBD) and Delta-9tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) have been widely acknowledged for the study of the therapeutic effects within medicine, and most recently used for the antitumor effects (Guzman, 2003; Velasco et al., 2016). A single effect of CBD and THC or synergistic effect of both CBD and THC were reported on glioma cell line and glioblastoma patients. The synergistic effects of CBD/THC were greater than the single effect of the individual compound (Torres et al., 2011; Nabissi et al., 2016; López-Valero et al., 2018). Furthermore, these results indicated that the antitumor effects were better when CBD and THC were used in combination. In fact, cancer treatment requires further studies on various therapeutic drugs because of the decrease of undesirable medication side effects. Nevertheless, there are a few investigations of cannabinoids within pancreatic cancer animal models. The goal of this study therefore evaluated the anti-proliferative effect and the apoptosis induction in pancreatic cancer xenograft mice treated with cannabinoids.

Objectives of the Study

The study aims to demonstrate the anti-proliferative effect and apoptosis induction associated with the treatment of cannabinoid extracted agent in xenograft human pancreatic tumor cell line (Capan-2) in nude mouse model.

The anti-proliferative and apoptotic-associated protein and the selective gene expressions of the xenograft human pancreatic cancer cell line is evaluated. The objective of the study as follows:

- 1) Evaluate the apoptotic-related gene expression in xenograft human pancreatic cancer cell line by quantitative reverse transcription real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) technique.
- Evaluate the expression of individual anti-proliferative and apoptotic markers in xenograft human pancreatic cancer cell line by immunohistochemistry (IHC) and Western blot (WB) techniques.

Research questions

Cannabinoids have a potential role in the anti-proliferation and the induction of apoptosis in various cancer cells. Do cannabinoids similarly affect within human PDAC xenograft mouse model?

Hypothesis

Cannabinoids contributed to the anti-proliferative effect and the induction of apoptosis in human PDAC xenograft mouse model.

Advantages of study

The findings of this study expand the fundamental knowledge regarding the potential therapeutic role of cannabinoids for human pancreatic adenocarcinoma among *in vivo* studies within nude mouse models and may contribute to the therapy of PDAC in humans in the future.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Cannabinoids

Cannabis sativa was early recognized as an ancient herbal medicinal plant and still be valuable for modern scientific medicine. Historically, Chinese physicians were the earliest user of the *cannabis* plant as a medicinal herb for patients over 4,000 BC (Tang and Eisenbrand, 2011; Mechoulam, 2019). These medicinal plants were used for various functions, such as hypnotic, psychotropic drugs, and also recreational purposes (Mechoulam et al., 1970). During the 19th century, *cannabis* became interesting for Western pharmacologists because of its important properties such as analgesic, muscle relaxant, antiemetic, anti-inflammatory and anticonvulsant properties (O'Shaughnessy, 1843). However, the medical use of *Cannabis* plants was illegal because of their characteristics of unwanted psychotropics and addiction (Solomon, 1968). Fortunately, the investigation and identification of *Cannabis's* active components have changed the interest in the uses of cannabinoids. Currently, cannabinoid compounds have been widely accepted in medicine, especially cancer treatments because of their anti-tumor properties (Guzman, 2003; Velasco et al., 2016).

Presently, the three main species of *Cannabis* have been well known as *Cannabis sativa*, *Cannabis indica*, and *Cannabis ruderalis* (Amar, 2006). It is widely acknowledged that *Cannabis* contains more than 60 active compounds categorized as plant-derived cannabinoids. The most active ingredient of this plant is tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), first elucidated in the 1960s (Gaoni and Mechoulam, 1964). From the starting point, other numerous cannabinoid compounds were continuously discovered such as Delta-8-THC (d8-THC), cannabinol (CBN), cannabicyclol (CBL), cannabichromene (CBC), cannabigerol (CBG) and cannabidiol (CBD) (Devane et al., 1992). Moreover, synthetic cannabinoids including dronabinol and their analogs which are nabilone and rimonabant, were also found (Le Boisselier et al., 2017). The third class, endocannabinoids represent the group comprised of anandamide (N-arachidonoylethanolamide, AEA) and 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG)

are synthesized and involved in various physiological processes of the human body (Huang et al., 2016).

The responses of cannabinoids have been elicited via the transmembrane receptors, highlighted by two identified receptors namely cannabinoid receptor 1 (CB1) and cannabinoid receptor 2 (CB2). The couple of CB1 and CB2 G-proteins have shared 44% protein identity and exhibit different expression patterns and pharmacological properties (Mackie and Stella, 2006).

2.2. Antitumor effect of cannabinoids

The antitumor effect of cannabinoids showed in four main processes including 1) induction of apoptosis, 2) inhibition of tumor cell proliferation, 3) inhibition of angiogenesis, invasion and metastasis and 4) induction of antitumor immunity (Zhu et al., 1998; Guzman, 2003).

2.2.1. Cannabinoids inhibit tumor cell proliferation

The cell cycle (Fig. 1) has been described as a highly regulated phase of the cell reproductive process or cell division. The cell cycle includes four main phases: G1 (first gap), S (synthesis), G2 (second gap), and M (mitotic). The G1 phase is known as the preparation period for the daughter cells. New components of organelles and proteins are synthesized in this phase. The S phase is mainly related to the replication of DNA, while in the G2 phase, cells continue growth and special proteins are synthesized for preparing mitosis. In the M phase, the synthesized organelles and DNA are divided equally into two daughter cells and these daughter cells are completely detached at the end of this phase (Nurse et al., 1998; Israels and Israels, 2000). Parallelly, there are three checkpoints at the G1, G2, and M phases to control the cell cycle system. Generally, the cells may not run into the next period if it does not pass the previous cell cycle checkpoint. In the G1 checkpoint, the nutrient or growth factor status of the cells is checked. If the cell does not available at that point, it may exit the cell cycle, rest at the G0 phase and turn back to the G1 phase when it is available (Israels and Israels, 2000; Kastan and Bartek, 2004). The checkpoint at the G2 phase is related to the replication of DNA. Protein p53 is responsible for stopping cells that carry the DNA lesions from the previous phase (Hengartner, 2000; Israels and Israels, 2000; Kastan and Bartek, 2004). The last checkpoint at the M phase checks the chromosome spindle assembly in two new daughter cells (Israels and Israels, 2000; Kastan and Bartek, 2004).



Figure 1: The phase and checkpoints of the cell cycle (Modified from Israels and Israels, 2000; Kastan and Bartek, 2004).

The proliferation of the cells plays a fundamental role that leads to neoplastic development (Smith et al., 2020). Cannabinoids inhibit the proliferation of tumor cells via modulating cell cycle checkpoints. The previous publication demonstrated that the activation of cannabinoid receptors blocked the progression of the cell cycle melanoma cell lines B16 through the inhibition of Akt within and hypophosphorylation (Blázquez et al., 2006). One previous study showed that the G1-S phase of the breast carcinoma cell cycle was blocked by the activation of the CB1 receptors (De Petrocellis et al., 1998). In contrast, the latter study indicated that THC-induced cell cycle arrested at the G2-M phase and led to the reduction of cell proliferation within human breast cancer cells via the activation of CB2 receptors (Caffarel et al., 2006). On the other hand, the results of WIN55,212-2 administration on pancreatic $m{eta}$ cells demonstrated the decrease of BCL-2 and cyclin D2 expression, resulting from the cell cycle arrested within the G0-G1 phase (Kim et al., 2016). In a recent report, it is shown that the cell cycle was blocked during the period of the GO-G1 phase under the treatment of CBD for gastric cancer cells (Zhang et al., 2019). Moreover, individuals administered THC or CBD produced cell cycle arrest at only the G0-G1 phase while combined THC and CBD induced cell cycle arrest at the period of the G0-G1 and G2-M phase on human glioblastoma (Marcu et al., 2010). Therefore, the modulating cell cycle checkpoints by cannabinoids may lead to the inhibition of tumor cell proliferation in various types of cancers.

2.2.2. Apoptosis induced by cannabinoids

"Apoptosis" is translated from Greek with the original meaning "Falling off". In the 1970s, apoptosis was first described as the distinct concept of a suicide program of cells. At present, apoptosis has been widely accepted as one of the most important forms of programmed cell death. It is a complicated process activated by the intrinsic or extrinsic pathway at multiple steps (Fig. 2) (Hengartner, 2000; Duque-Parra, 2005; Roufayel, 2016). The intrinsic pathway or also widely called the mitochondrial or stress pathway is mainly related to the activation of the proteins in the mitochondrial outer membrane by intracellular stress. Intracellular signals stimulate the regulation of the BCL-2 protein family, mainly related to the proapoptotic protein BAX and anti-apoptotic protein BCL-2 in the mitochondrial outer membrane. The imbalance in the regulation of protein BAX and BCL-2 leads to the release of cytochrome C from the mitochondrial outer membrane to the cytoplasm, provoking apoptotic protease-activating factor 1 (Apaf-1) to trigger pro-apoptotic protein Caspase-9, and then promote the activation of pro-apoptotic protein Caspase-3, consequence apoptosis is activated in the affected cell via the intrinsic pathway (Hengartner, 2000; Adams and Cory, 2007; Roufayel, 2016). On the other hand, the extrinsic pathway or additionally acknowledged as the death receptor pathway is principally related to the activation of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) family and Fas receptor on the cell surface. The role of pro-apoptotic proteins Caspase-8 and Caspase-3 is highlighted in this pathway. Protein Caspase-8 is activated through messenger which is the result of an interaction between death ligands and death receptors on the cell surface. Following protein Caspase-3 is processed and activated through the signals of protein Caspase-8, resulting in the activation of apoptosis via the extrinsic pathway (Hengartner, 2000; Kumar, 2007; Roufayel, 2016).



Figure 2: The intrinsic and extrinsic apoptosis pathway. The intrinsic pathway is activated via intracellular stress, which regulates the BCL-2 protein family by promoting protein BAX, inhibiting protein BCL-2. The BAX/BCL-2 ratio imbalance leads to the release of cytochrome C, forming apoptosome via activation of Apaf-1, followed by activation of protein Caspase-9 and -3 that stimulate apoptosis. The extrinsic pathway initially begins from the stimulation of the death receptors on the cell membrane. The activation of protein Caspase-8 is mainly related to the activation of death ligands (TNF, Fas) via interaction with death receptors. Once activated, protein Caspase-8 stimulates the activation of protein Caspase-3, consequently activating apoptosis (Modified from Hengartner, 2000; Adams and Cory, 2007).

Like other antineoplastic drugs, the antitumor effects of cannabinoids are induced via activating apoptosis program and are closely involved in the intrinsic pathway. THC is one of the most popular cannabinoid compounds that was demonstrated in the activated apoptosis-related intrinsic pathway through the endoplasmic reticulum stress (Carracedo et al., 2006a). A previous investigation demonstrated that cannabinoids were associated with the upregulation of BAX levels (Lukhele and Motadi, 2016). Likewise, another additional study showed that CDB promoted the expression of protein BAX and inhibited protein BCL-2 expression, resulting in apoptosis within the human gastric cancer cell line (Zhang et al., 2019). Moreover, previous publications showed that THC related to the regulation of BCL-2 and caspase activity led to triggering apoptosis within immune cell lines (Zhu et al., 1998). Administration of WIN 55,212-2 (CB1) into pancreatic $m{\beta}$ cells decreased the expression of anti-apoptotic protein BCL-2, and induced cell cycle arrest between the G0 and G1 phase (Kim et al., 2016). The CB2 receptor agonist (JWH133) led to the upregulation of the BCL-2 signaling pathway (Fujii et al., 2014). Furthermore, in vitro study of WIN 55,212-2 within glioma cells indicated that contributed to the regulation of the Akt and Erk signaling pathways via Bad protein, a member of the BCL-2 family. Besides, WIN 55,212-2 increased the level of Bad protein which is associated with the leak of cytochrome C from the mitochondria to the cytosol area, thus leading to the caspase activity and finally triggering apoptosis (Ellert-Miklaszewska et al., 2005). Moreover, several studies show that cannabinoids lead to the upregulation of protein Caspase-3, resulting in the activation of apoptosis (Herrera et al., 2006; Marcu et al., 2010; Lukhele and Motadi, 2016; López-Valero et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2019). Contrarily, the effect of cannabinoids on Caspase-8 expression is still under study (Herrera et al., 2006). A previous study showed that THC activated apoptosis in the human leukemia cell line via the intrinsic pathway even though the activation of protein Caspase-8 was found. It can be explained by the activity of protein Caspase-8 at the post-mitochondrial stage (Herrera et al., 2006).

2.2.3. Cannabinoids inhibit the angiogenesis, invasion, and metastasis of tumor cell

Cannabinoids inhibit angiogenesis by blocking the activation of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) pathway in many cancer cells. The administration of cannabinoids into various skin tumors, gliomas, and thyroid carcinomas showed that cannabinoids contributed to the downregulation of VEGF, resulting in antiangiogenesis (Casanova et al., 2003; Portella et al., 2003; Blázquez et al., 2006). Additionally, the anti-invasive activity of cannabinoids was firstly reported within prostate cancer cells through CB1 receptor activation by 2-AG (Nithipatikom et al., 2004). Furthermore, the administration of CBD to breast and brain cancer cells showed the downregulation of Id-1 and thus led to the decrease of invasion of the tumor cells (McAllister et al., 2007; Soroceanu et al., 2013). The downregulation of Id-1 was also confirmed to inhibit breast cancer cell invasion through activation of the CB2 receptor agonist O-1663. (Murase et al., 2014) Besides, the agonist of the CB2 receptor (JWH-133) showed the anti-proliferative and anti-angiogenic effects within lung cancer cells (Vidinsky et al., 2012).

2.2.4. Cannabinoids induced antitumor immunity

The activation of cannabinoid receptors showed a direct effect on immune cells in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. THC affects tumorigenesis by interfering with macrophages and lymphocyte activities on tumor surveillance (Zhu et al., 1998). Besides, *in vivo* studies indicated that using THC at a dose of 10 mg/kg body weight (BW) may affect the total number of T cells, B cells, and macrophages via the decreased cellularity within the thymus and spleen of normal mice (McKallip et al., 2002). On the other hand, the effect of enhancing the immune system of cannabinoids was indicated by several *in vivo* studies. The activated CB1 and CB2 agonist (WIN55,212-2), and activated CB2 agonist (JWH-133) exhibited higher effects on immunocompetent xenograft mice in comparison with immunodeficient xenograft mice in melanoma (Blázquez et al., 2006). Additionally, immunocompetent rats were treated with THC at a high dose of 50 mg/kg BW with 5 times per week during the treatment period of 2 years showed that these rats had longer overall survival time and less numerous types of incidences tumors (Chan et al., 1996).

2.3. Cannabinoid effects on PDAC

PDAC is a mainly popular and aggressive type of pancreatic cancer which highly devastating to patient health (Kleeff et al., 2016; Orth et al., 2019). Previous *in vitro* publications investigated the presence of CB1, CB2, and their agonists within the pancreatic cell lines to understand the antitumor effect of cannabinoids. The previous research indicated that the administration dose-dependent of THC induces a reduction in cell viability via the apoptotic process, specifically via CB2 receptor and ceramide-dependent up-regulation of p8 and ATF-4, and TRB3 stress-related genes (Carracedo et al., 2006b). Meanwhile, there are several studies that focus on the activation of the CB1 receptor. They reported the AM251 agonist receptor-induced apoptosis through the CB1 receptor, which involved MAPK signaling pathways within the MIA PaCa-2 pancreatic cancer cell line (Fogli et al., 2006). Alternatively, the combination of cannabinoids and chemotherapy therapeutics

suggested promising results in *in vitro* study (Yasmin-Karim et al., 2018). On the other hand, *in vivo* studies showed the successful treatment of pancreatic cancer by combining cannabinoids and radiotherapy therapeutic within xenograft mice model (Yasmin-Karim et al., 2018). Furthermore, injection of THC with a dose of 15 mg/kg/day into a xenograft model carrying MIA PaCa-2 pancreatic cancer indicated decreased tumor growth and reduced extension of the tumor cells via the apoptosis process (Carracedo et al., 2006a). KPC mice with combined treatment among CBD and gemcitabine showed three-time longer survival times than the control or gemcitabine group (Ferro et al., 2018).

Although recent studies highlight the therapeutic effect of cannabinoids on pancreatic cancer, there are few studies focused on the proliferation of apoptosisrelated genes and proteins. Therefore, the current research focuses on the antiproliferative and apoptotic-induced effects at various doses of cannabinoids on the PDAC xenograft mice model.

2.4. Conceptual framework

A study conceptual framework was presented in Fig. 3.



Figure 3: The conceptual framework applied for the present study

CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Animal model

3.1.1. Animal ethics

The tissue samples of the current study were obtained from the previous animal experiment which was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of The National Cancer Institute, Thailand (Approval No.272_2019RB_IN602) and Lerdsin Hospital, Department of Medical Services (Approval No.ACE-F-v03-02). All animal experiment procedures were completely followed according to the approved guidelines.

3.1.2. Human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cell line

Briefly, Capan-2 cell line (HBT-80TM) was purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) and maintained growth in other McCoy's 5a cell culture medium (ATCCTM 30-2007, USA) complemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Cell-culture tested, ATCCTM 30-2007, USA). Cells were cultured at a 37°C incubator containing 5% CO₂ within humidified air. The cell digestion was carried out with trypsin-EDTA solution 0.25%, and then supplemented with 10 ml working phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) pH 7.2 (Gibco, Thermo scientific, USA) prior to the cell line transplantation. The collected cells were stained with 1 mL of 0.4% Trypan blue dye (Gibco, Thermo scientific, USA) to evaluate the availability of the cells by hemocytometer chamber. The individual injection was maintained with 5×10^6 cells within 0.1 mL volume for tumor implantation at the flank of nude mice.

3.1.3. Cannabinoid solution preparation

The THC:CBD (1:6) solution was prepared and obtained from the Government Pharmaceutical Organization (GPO), Thailand. *Cannabis sativa* L. strain was selected for this study and growing within the GPO's greenhouse medical cannabis plantation. The cola of *cannabis* was collected, and then cannabinoids were extracted by using ethanol extraction. Finally, cannabinoids extract was dissolved in pharmaceuticalgrade oil.

3.1.4. Xenograft nude mouse model

Twenty-five male immunodeficient mice (nude mice, BALB/cAJcl-nu) at fourweek-old were obtained from Nomura Siam International, Co. Ltd. (Bangkok, Thailand). The nude mice were raised at Lerdsin Hospital animal facility within a strictly hygienic conventional laboratory system maintained a temperature of 22°C, relative humidity of 50 to 70% and under a 12-hour light/dark cycle. All mice were acclimatized a week prior to starting an experiment. A xenograft model of human PDAC was then subcutaneously injected with 5×10^{6} Capan-2 cells at the right flank region under aseptic conditions. The xenograft tumors were measured once every 3 days. Tumor volume was calculated according to the described formula: Volume (mm³) = (Length x Width²) with the length and width measured by an vernier caliper (Song et al., 2017). The treatments were started when tumor volume developed around 200 mm³. Five mice were randomly arranged into a treatment group according to the completely randomized design. Two controls and three experimental treatments were following:

Group 1 - Negative control: Mice were gavaged with sesame oil for 30 days.

Group 2 - Positive control: Mice were intraperitoneally injected with 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) with a dose of 20 mg/kg BW, 3 times a week.

Group 3 - Experimental group: Mice were gavaged with THC:CBD (1:6) solution at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW/day treated for 30 days.

Group 4 - Experimental group: Mice were gavaged with THC:CBD (1:6) solution at a dose of 5 mg/kg BW/day treated for 30 days.

Group 5 - Experimental group: Mice were gavaged with THC:CBD (1:6) solution at a dose of 10 mg/kg BW/day treated for 30 days.

The cannabinoid solution with a ratio of THC:CBD (1:6) was used in this study according to the formula of the GPO, Thailand. The tumor volume was measured at the initial (day 0) and the end of the experiment (day 30). Briefly, the experimental scheme was presented in Fig. 4.





3.2. Gross examination

Gross examination was performed subsequent to euthanasia and necropsy. Macroscopic lesions were observed as well as the metastasis of tumors within the various organs.

3.3. Sample collection

The samples of twenty-five xenograft nude mice models including tumors and internal organs (lung, heart, liver, pancreas, spleen, and kidney) were collected and fixed with 10% neutral buffered formalin for 24 hours. In all collected samples, the routine tissue processing was performed (paraffin embedding and hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stain). The fresh tumors were also kept at -80°C prior to being used.

3.4. Histopathological study

3.4.1. Xenograft tumor examination

The morphological evaluation and subtype classification of PDAC were accomplished according to the previous publication of the World Health Organization (WHO) (Bosman et al., 2010).

These classifications consist of a six-subtype classification including:

- 1) Adenosquamous carcinoma
- 2) Colloid carcinoma
- 3) Hepatoid carcinoma
- 4) Medullary carcinoma
- 5) Signet ring cell carcinoma
- 6) Undifferentiated carcinoma, and undifferentiated carcinoma with osteoclastlike giant cells

In addition, the capsule of tumor mass, morphology of PDAC cells, vascularization, and stroma were evaluated within individual specimens under a light microscope at the high-power field (HPF) (40X, area equals 2.37 mm²). The number of apoptotic cells and mitotic cells in tumor sections was counted as described in the previous study (Meuten et al., 2016). For the cell count, a total of ten areas were randomly captured at the HPF (40X, area equals 2.37 mm²) per section. Microscopically, mitotic cells characterized by a set of morphological features which was differentiated in each phase of the cell cycle. Briefly, in prophase, hyperchromatic chromosomes, the nucleoli shrank and disappeared, and the nuclear membrane was irregular or ragged and hairy-like projections. In metaphase, the nuclear membrane disappeared, and the chromosomes were arranged at the metaphase plate. In anaphase, two daughter chromosomes detached and moved to the two poles of the cell, intact cell membrane, and absent nuclear membrane and nucleolus. In telophase, two daughter nuclei form, nucleoli reappeared, less condensed chromosomes, and divided the cytoplasm into two new daughter cells (Ibrahim et al., 2022). Meanwhile, the apoptotic cell was characterized by a blebbing cell membrane, nucleus and cytoplasm reduction in the volume (cell shrinkage), nuclear fragments, condensed organelles and cytosol, and moderately eosinophilic cytoplasm in the morphology of the cell (Häcker, 2000). Apoptotic and mitotic cell count were accomplished by manually counting the section from an individual mouse within each group. The average number of apoptotic and mitotic cells per section was followed by the formula of the number of expressed cells per HPF (cells/HPF). The histopathological evaluation was performed by double-blind study.

3.4.2. Metastasis examination

The internal organ sections stained with H&E were microscopically observed for the metastasis of PDAC cells.

All histological examination results were evaluated as the same as the condition of the xenograft tumor examination. A double-blind study was applied to the evaluation of gross metastasis examination.

3.5. Gene expression study

The gene expression of apoptotic-related genes (*BAX, BCL-2, Caspase-3*, and *Caspase-8*) within xenograft tumors were determined using the qRT-PCR technique.

3.5.1. RNA extraction

The innuPREP RNA Mini Kit 2.0 (Analytik Jena AG, Jena, Germany) was selected to extract the total RNA from fresh xenograft tumors following the guideline of the manufacturers. Briefly, a maximum of 20 mg of fresh tumors were manually homogenized at room temperature (RT) (20-25°C) and was lysed within 450 μ L of Lysis Solution RL. Following, 400 μ L of 70% ethanol was supplemented, well mixed, and then transferred into the Spin Filter R column. Continuously, 500 μ L of Washing Solution HS and 700 μ L of Washing Solution LS were added, well centrifuge at 11,000 rpm for 1 minute between each step. The Spin Filter R column was placed into a new 1.5 mL Elution tube, add on a volume of 50 μ L RNAse-free water, and centrifuged at 11,000 rpm for a minute. The aqueous phase of the final mixture was collected and kept at -80°C until used for further process. The spectrophotometer (NanoDrop) (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Wilmington, USA) was used to confirm the concentration of total RNA within the sample over the range from 50 ng to 2 μ g.

The synthesis of cDNA was transfected by using the qPCRBIO cDNA Synthesis Kit (PCR Biosystems, London, United Kingdom). The synthesis of the cDNA process followed the guideline of the manufacturers. The quality of synthesized products was checked by spectrophotometry (NanoDrop) (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Wilmington, USA) to be ensured the level of cDNA was above 50 ng per 20 μ L reaction. The collected products were stored at -20°C until used for PCR amplification.

3.5.2. Quantitative reverse transcription real-time PCR (qRT-PCR)

The expression genes within this study were amplified using the gene-specific primer pairs (Table 1) as focusing the previous publications for *BAX, BCL-2, Caspase-3,* and *Caspase-8* genes. qRT-PCR was performed on a Rotor-Gene Q thermocycler (Qiagen, Hilden, German). Briefly, 20 ng of cDNA were well mixed in 10 μ L of 2x qPCRBIO SyGreen Mix (PCR Biosystems, London, United Kingdom), 400 nM of individual primer, and adjusted into a total of 20 μ L final volume, according to the

guideline of the manufacturers. The thermal cycle of the qRT-PCR reaction consisted of polymerase activation at 95°C for 2 minutes, following 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 5 seconds, and extension for 30 seconds at 60°C. The individual sample was carried out in duplicate per each target gene. The qRT-PCR determined the cycle threshold (Ct) value for individual target genes. The relative quantification among target genes was accomplished through the earlier $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method (Schmittgen and Livak, 2008). The β -actin gene was chosen as an internal control following the prior descriptions (Rubie et al., 2005; Iyer et al., 2017). The expression level of the individual target genes among experimental groups was averaged and displayed as a normalized ratio. The BAX/BCL-2 ratio was calculated by dividing the normalized ratio of BAX and BCL-2 gene expression.

Tabl	le	1: -	The	sequences	of	qRT-P	CR	primer	pairs	using	in	the	stud	y
------	----	------	-----	-----------	----	-------	----	--------	-------	-------	----	-----	------	---

Gene	Sequence (5'-3')	Size (bp)	Reference	
eta-actin	F: AGCGAGCATCCCCCAAAGTT	205	Carcia Ortiz at al (2017)	
	R: GGGCACGAAGGCTCATCATT	202		
DAV	F: TGGCAGCTGACATGTTTTCTGAC	105	Karaliatas at al (201E)	
DAX	R: TCACCCAACCACCCTGGTCTT	195	Karaliotas et al. (2015)	
DCL 2	F: CAGGATAACGGAGGCTGGGATG	124	Karaliotas et al. (2015)	
BCL-2	R: AGAAATCAAACAGAGGCCGCA	154		
Cospose 2	F: GCGGTTGTAGAAGAGTTTCGTG	ทยาลัย	Johnson et al. (2016)	
Caspase-3	R: CTCACGGCCTGGGATTTCAA	IUI		
Caspase-8	F: AGAGTCTGTGCCCAAATCAAC	70	Porbani et al. (2014)	
	R: GCTGCTTCTCTCTTTGCTGAA	10	Domani et al. (2014)	

3.6. Protein expression study

The expression of the protein within tumors of xenograft nude mice was investigated regarding IHC and WB techniques of the proliferative (Ki-67 and PCNA) and the apoptotic markers (BAX, BCL-2, Caspase-3, and Caspase-8).

3.6.1. Immunohistochemistry

The paraffin-embedded tissues were cut into a section of 4 µm-thick and placed in the positive charged glass slides, air-dried at RT. The specimens were deparaffinized with xylenes, rehydrated with a gradual decrease within alcohol

concentration (100%, 95%, 80%, and 70% of alcohol), and then washed within running water and distilled water. The slides were pretreated for antigen retrieval, conditions following the antibody (Table 2). Endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched within a chamber containing 3% of H_2O_2 for 10 minutes at RT. For blocking non-specific antibodies, all specimens were blocked with 1% bovine serum albumin for 30 minutes at 37°C, subsequent to stained with primary antibody at 4°C, and incubated overnight. The used primary antibody to dilute within PBS following the guideline of manufacture (Table 2). Subsequently, the secondary antibody was following applied, using a biotinylated goat anti-mouse/anti-rabbit antibody (Envision, Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) for 1 hour at RT. A freshly prepared 3, 3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) solution (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) was added to visualize the colored reaction. Finally, the slides were immersed within distilled water, counterstained with Meyer's hematoxylin stain, dehydrated within graded alcohol, and permanently mounted. The lymph node of a mouse was recruited as a positive control, following the same procedure as shown in the experimental specimens. The negative control was experimental specimens, following the same procedure, except for incubating with a primary antibody.

All specimens of immunohistochemical labeling for the individual antibody in each group were evaluated with an HPF (40X, area equals 2.37 mm²). For each tumor section, a total of ten areas were randomly selected and captured by the digital imaging system. In a group of proliferative markers (Ki-67 and PCNA), the positive cells per all nucleated cells within a minimum of 500 cells observation (numbers of positive cells/in 500 cells) were evaluated. The data were calculated and displayed as a percentage (%) of positive cells. On the other hand, the percentage of positive cells per 1 mm² (%IHC positive area/mm²) within a group of related-apoptotic markers (BAX and BCL-2) were calculated by the image analysis program (NIS-Elements Analysis D, Nikon, Japan). The BAX/BCL-2 ratio was calculated by dividing the normalized ratio of BAX and BCL-2 protein expression. Caspase-3 was analyzed via the number of positive cells per HPF (cells/HPF) according to the prior study (Sakarin et al., 2022).

22			, (c) (c)		
Antibody	Source	Clone/Cat. Num.	Dilution	Antigen retrieval	Staining pattern
Ki-67	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA	8D5	1:100	Tris-EDTA (pH 9.0) Autoclave, 121°C, 20 min	Nucleus
PCNA	Dako, Hamburg, Germany	PC10	1:100	Citrate (pH 6.0)	Nucleus
BAX	Sigma-Aldrich, Missouri, Masouri, USA	1F5-1B7	1:100	Microwave, 10 min Citrate (pH 6.0) Microwave, 10 min	Cytoplasm
BCL-2	Dako, Hamburg, Germany	124	1:100	Citrate (pH 6.0) Autoclave, 121°C, 20 min	Cytoplasm
Caspase-3	Abcam, Cambridge, UK	Ab4051	1:100	Citrate (pH 6.0) Autoclave, 121°C, 20 min	Cytoplasm, Nucleus
Caspase-8	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Oregon, USA	8CSP03	1:100	Citrate (pH 6.0) Autoclave, 121°C, 20 min	Cytoplasm

Table 2: The immunohistochemical primary antibody, working dilutions, antigen retrieval, and positive staining pattern

3.6.2. Western blot

Western blot analysis was conducted with the extracted protein from the xenograft tumors following the guideline of Minute™ Total Protein Extraction Kit for Animal Cultured Cells and Tissues (Invent Biotechnologies, Massachusetts, USA) and stored at -20°C until used for the next step. The lysed protein was subjected to using 10% SDS-PAGE polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Texas, USA). Thereafter, the membrane was blocked with 5% skim milk for 1 hour at RT, and was incubated overnight with primary antibody (Table 3) at 4°C. Following, anti-mouse IgGk BP-HRP (Cat. Num. sc-516102, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Oregon, USA) or anti-rabbit IgG-HRP (Cat. Num. sc-2357, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Oregon, USA) at 1:5,000 dilution was developed as secondary antibody for 1 hour at RT. For visualization, the LumiFlash[™] Prime Chemiluminescent Substrate (Energenesis Biomedical, Taipei, Taiwan) and ChemiDoc and ChemiDoc MP Imaging Systems (Bio-Rad, California, USA) were chosen to detect and scan the results, respectively. The individual sample was run with three replications. The labeling intensity of samples was evaluated via the signal strength, using ImageJ software (Ferreira and Rasband, 2012). The strong or weak signals in the visualized results demonstrated the level of presented protein in the samples. Table 3: The primary antibodies used for WB

Antibody	จุฬาล _{Source} มหาวิทยาลัย	Clone/Cat. Num.	Dilution
eta-actin	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Oregon, USA	C4	1:500
Ki-67	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA	8D5	1:500
PCNA	Dako, Hamburg, Germany	PC10	1:500
BAX	Sigma-Aldrich, Missouri, USA	1F5-1B7	1:500
BCL-2	Dako, Hamburg, Germany	124	1:500
Caspase-3	Abcam, Cambridge, UK	Ab4051	1:500
Caspase-8	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Oregon, USA	8CSP03	1:500

3.7. Statistical analysis

The one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and post hoc test were considered to test the difference in the quantitative variables (apoptotic index, mitotic index, Ki-67, PCNA, and Caspase-3 protein expression) as well as semi-quantitative variables (BAX and BCL-2 protein expression) among groups. The qRT-PCR and WB results were evaluated by a nonparametric test to compare the differences between the experimental groups, using the Kruskal-Wallis test. All statistical analyses were performed by the SAS software version 9 for Windows (SAS Institute, Inc., USA). The values were presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD). P values below 0.05 were considered the criterion for statistically significant.



Chulalongkorn University
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

4.1. Gross examination

A total of 25 xenograft nude mice were subcutaneously injected with Capan-2 cell line $(5 \times 10^6 \text{ cells})$ at the right flank region. Subsequently, the transplanted tumor was weighed and measured tumor size once every 3 days. The experiment was started during the period of the average volume of xenograft tumors reached 200 mm³. There were five groups (5 mice/group) of treatment included negative control (NC) group, positive control (PC) group, and THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg BW. At the end of the experiment, all mice were euthanized and were grossly examined. Grossly, the tumors were presented subcutaneously at the transplanted areas of all xenograft nude mice. In the xenograft tumors, ulcerated and necrosis were found in several nude mice of each experimental group (Fig. 5). In other internal organs, there was no significant change in gross examination except mild to moderate pulmonary congestion. The metastasis of tumor cells in both intrathoracic and intraabdominal organs was not macroscopically observed.







Figure 5: The macroscopic images of the representative mice injected with Capan-2 cell line on the 30 days of the treatment with THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW (a), 5 mg/kg BW (b), 10 mg/kg BW (c), NC group (d), and PC group (e). The transplanted tumors were found subcutaneously at the right flank region with ulceration and necrosis.

4.2. Histopathological study

4.2.1. Xenograft tumor examination

4.2.1.1. Tumor volume

The average tumor volume (mm³) was calculated on day 0 (initial day) and day 30 (final day) of the experiment. There was no significant difference (p > 0.05) between the average volume of the xenograft tumors over the course of treatment (Fig. 6a, b). The percentage of tumor volume change increased in all groups. In comparison to the NC group, there was a decrease in tumor volume change (%) within the PC group (283.96 ± 37.52%) and the treatment groups consisting of 1 and 5 mg/kg BW (276.93 ± 36.41%, 269.32 ± 51.08%, respectively), whereas the greater growth of the tumors was found in the treatment group at a dose of 10 mg/kg BW (499.94 ± 20.51%). However, there was no statistical difference among groups (p > 0.05) (Fig. 6c).



Figure 6: The average tumor volume (mm³) on day 0 (a) and day 30 (b) over the course of treatment, and percentage of tumor volume change (%) (c) among the NC group, PC group, and treatment groups (THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg BW). The values were presented as mean \pm SD. The statistical analysis was calculated by the one-way ANOVA and post hoc test.

4.2.1.2. Histopathological morphology of the xenograft tumors

To evaluate the histopathological morphology of the transplanted tumors on the xenograft nude mice, the H&E-stained section of an individual xenograft tumor was examined and evaluated under a light microscope (40X). As can be seen in Fig. 7, the xenograft tumors were arranged into the glandular structure with fibrovascular stroma surrounding. Neoplastic cells were round to oval, lobulated with the intralesional necrotic area, and surrounded by clearly defined borders. The necrotic areas were frequently represented on the edge of xenograft tumors in the treatment and PC groups, while occasionally found in the center of the xenograft tumor in the NC group. To evaluate the distribution of the necrotic area among groups, the percentage of necrotic tissue was computed by the image analysis program (NIS-Elements Analysis D, Nikon, Japan). The results indicated that there was no statistically change (p > 0.05) in the necrotic area between the treatment groups at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW (40.64 ± 3.69%), 5 mg/kg BW (34.88 ± 6.77%), 10 mg/kg BW (27.31 ± 8.84%), the PC group (32.88 ± 2.94%), and the NC group (24.79 ± 4.09%) (Fig. 8).

Among the histopathological examined, the transplanted tumors displayed similar characteristics to the original neoplasm which was pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. In subtype classification, all the examined tumors mirrored the characteristic of adenosquamous carcinoma according to the WHO classification. Microscopically, the morphology of the xenograft tumors was characterized by the presence of lobular, tubular, tubulopapillary, and solid patterns (Fig. 9). The tumor patterns were revealed with round lobulated and well-formed glands with lumen lined by the epithelium cells. The tubulopapillary pattern was described as welldifferentiated glands, dilated, and larger than the tubular pattern with the protrusion of tumors and fibrovascular stalks in the tubular lumen. In addition, the cribriform pattern was commonly detected in all examined tumors. The tumor cells were tall coluboidal to columnar in shape with moderately basophilic cytoplasm and prominent nucleoli. The nuclei of tumor cells were represented as mild polymorphism, hyperchromasia, chromatin clumping, and numerous mitotic activity (Fig. 9). Besides, the vascularization examination of the xenograft tissue among all experimental mice demonstrated no proliferation of the blood vessels via H&E stained. Moreover, this study also performed IHC staining of blood vessels in the xenograft tumors via a specific antibody (CD31/PECAM-1). The labeling results of the CD31/PECAM-1 antibody showed no proliferation of the blood vessels in the xenograft tumors among groups (Supplementary data Fig. 1).



Figure 7: The macroscopic images of the xenograft tumors in the treatment groups with THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW (a), 5 mg/kg BW (b), 10 mg/kg BW (c), NC group (d), and PC group (e). The subcutaneous tumors were presented with tumor area (T) and necrotic area (N) (H&E stained).



Figure 8: The percentage of necrotic area (%) in the xenograft tumors among the NC group, PC group, and treatment groups (THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg BW). The values were shown as mean \pm SD. The statistical analysis was calculated by the one-way ANOVA and post hoc test.



Figure 9: Histopathological morphology of the xenograft tumors among the treatment groups with THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW (a), 5 mg/kg BW (b), 10 mg/kg BW (c), NC group (d), and PC group (e) (H&E stained, 40X, scale bar = 50 μ m).

4.2.1.3. Mitotic and apoptotic cell count (cells/HPF)

Ten areas of the H&E-stained section in each xenograft tumor were randomly captured to count the number of mitotic and apoptotic cells under light microscopy at high power magnification (40X). In the area of the predominated number of apoptotic cells, the number of mitotic cells was rare (Fig. 10). As shown in Fig. 11a, the mitotic cell count (cells/HPF) was highest in the NC group (10.50 \pm 1.81) compared with those in the treatment group at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW (7.08 \pm 1.25), 5 mg/kg BW (6.85 \pm 0.88), 10 mg/kg BW (6.40 \pm 0.85), and the PC group (6.98 \pm 0.39). The difference in the mitotic cell count between experimental groups was significant (p < 0.05). In contrast, the apoptotic cell count (cells/HPF) (Fig. 11b) was significant increased (p < 0.01) for the treatment group at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, 10 mg/kg BW (14.73 ± 1.34, 15.33 ± 1.73, 15.95 ± 1.01, respectively), and the PC group (13.90 \pm 1.93) in comparison with the NC group (7.58 \pm 0.95). When comparing the mitotic/apoptotic (M/A) ratio (Fig. 11c), there was statistical difference (p < 0.01) between the NC group (1.40 \pm 0.29) and the PC group (0.51 \pm 0.07), the treatment group at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, 10 mg/kg BW ($0.48 \pm 0.08, 0.45 \pm 0.09,$ 0.40 ± 0.07 , respectively).



Figure 10: Histopathological morphology of the tumors in xenograft nude mice. The tumors performed scattered mitotic cells (arrow) and apoptotic cells (arrowhead) in the treatment groups with THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW (a), 5 mg/kg BW (b), 10 mg/kg BW (c), NC group (d), and PC group (e) (H&E stained, 40X, scale bar = 50 μ m).



Figure 11: The mitotic (a) and apoptotic cell count (cells/HPF) (b) among the NC group, PC group, and treatment groups (THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg BW). The mitotic/apoptotic (M/A) ratio (c) was calculated via dividing the mitotic index by the apoptotic index. The values were presented as mean \pm SD. The statistical difference was calculated by the one-way ANOVA and post hoc test. ^{a,b} Mean with different letters were significant differences among groups (p < 0.05).

4.2.2. Metastasis examination

The metastatic spread of the human PDAC cell line transplanted into the xenograft mice was examined by evaluation in the H&E-stained images of both intrathoracic organs (lung, heart) and intraabdominal organs (liver, pancreas, spleen, kidneys). As shown in Fig. 12, there was no significant change in the selected organs, except mild pulmonary congestion. The evidence of inflammation and necrosis in the representative organs was not discovered. These findings clearly suggested that there was no metastatic spread of the human PDAC cell line to the examined organs.



Figure 12: The histological images of the lung (a), heart (b), liver (c), pancreas (d), spleen (e), and kidney (f) from the xenograft nude mice injected with Capan-2 cell line (H&E stained, 40X, scale bar = 50μ m).

4.3. Gene expression study

To investigate the effect of cannabinoids on the human PDAC xenograft tumors through the mechanism of tumor cell death, the mRNA expression of apoptotic-related genes including *BAX*, *BCL-2*, *Caspase-3*, and *Caspase-8* was performed. The results were shown in Fig. 13.



Figure 13: The mRNA expression of apoptotic-related genes: *BAX* (a), *BCL-2* (b), BAX/BCL-2 ratio (c), *Caspase-3* (d), and *Caspase-8* (e) among the NC group, PC group, and treatment groups (THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg BW). The values were shown as mean \pm SD. The statistical difference was calculated by the Kruskal-Wallis test. ^{a,b} Mean with different letters were significant differences among groups (p < 0.0*5*).

As demonstrated in the results, the expression of the pro-apoptotic *BAX* gene was significantly higher in the PC and cannabinoid-treated groups at a dose of 5 mg/kg BW and 10 mg/kg BW, whereas the expression of the anti-apoptotic *BCL-2* gene was significantly lower in the PC and cannabinoid-treated groups compared to the NC group (p < 0.05) (Fig. 13a, b). Likewise, the *BAX/BCL-2* mRNA expression ratio significantly rises (p < 0.05) in the PC and cannabinoid-treated groups at a dose of 5 mg/kg BW and 10 mg/kg BW relative to the NC group (Fig. 13c). However, the mRNA expression of *BAX* gene and *BAX/BCL-2* mRNA ratio in cannabinoid-treated group at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW was not dramatically different (p > 0.05) compared to the NC

group (Fig. 13a, c). The mRNA expression of the *Caspase-3* gene increased significantly (p < 0.05) in the PC and cannabinoid-treated groups relative to the NC group (Fig. 13d). Moreover, the mRNA expression of the *Caspase-8* gene was not statistically different (p > 0.05) among cannabinoid-treated groups and the NC group (Fig. 13e).

4.4. Protein expression study

4.4.1. Immunohistochemistry

Correlation with the aim to investigate the effect of cannabinoids on the human PDAC xenograft tumors via the mechanism of tumor cell death, IHC was carried out to detect the expression of proliferative markers (Ki-67, PCNA), and apoptotic-related markers (BAX, BCL-2, Caspase-3, and Caspase-8) (Table 4).

As presented in Table 4 and Fig. 14a, there was a significant reduction (p < p0.01) in the number of Ki-67 positive cells among all cannabinoid-treated groups and the PC group when compared with the NC group (Table 4, Fig. 14a). Similarly, the number of PCNA-positive labeling cells significantly decreased (p < 0.01) in cannabinoid-treated groups and the PC group relative to the NC group (Table 4, Fig. 14b). On the other hand, the percentage of BAX-positive cells was dramatically increased (p < 0.01) in cannabinoid-treated groups (5 mg/kg BW and 10 mg/kg BW) and the PC group compared to the NC group (Table 4, Fig. 14c). However, the expression of BAX protein was not different (p > 0.05) between cannabinoid-treated group at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW and the NC group (Table 4). Contrary to BAX, the percentage of BCL-2 positive cells in the NC group was higher than those in the treatment groups (1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg BW) and PC group (p <0.01) (Table 4, Fig. 14d). The BAX/BCL-2 ratio statistically raised (p < 0.01) between the treatment groups (5 mg/kg BW and 10 mg/kg BW) and the PC group in comparison with the NC group, meanwhile, there was no significant difference (p >0.05) between cannabinoid-treated group at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW and the NC group (Table 4). The intranuclear labeling of Caspase-3 was presented in all experimental groups. The number of Caspase-3 positive cells (cells/HPF) significantly decreased (p < 0.01) in the NC groups compared to the treatment groups (1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg BW) or the PC group (Table 4, Fig. 14e). Meanwhile, there was no positive label of Caspase-8 in all groups (Table 4, Fig. 14f).



Figure 14: The immunoexpression of Ki-67 (a), PCNA (b), BAX (c), BCL-2 (d), Caspase-3 (e), and Caspase-8 (f) among the NC group, PC group, and the treatment groups with THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg BW. The expression of the target proteins was found in all groups except Caspase-8. The intranuclear labeling of Ki-67, PCNA, and Caspase-3; intracytoplasmic labeling of BAX, BCL-2 in the xenograft tumors were displayed as brown color (DAB labeled, Mayer's hematoxylin counterstained, 40X, scale bar = 50 μ m).

groups via IHC evaluation
ong experimental
expressions am
protein
f six target
The distribution o
Table 4: ⁻

Table 4: The distributic	on of six target protei	n expressions amo	ng experimental gro	ups via IHC evalu	ation
Parameter	NC	PC	THC:CBD 1 mg/kg BW	THC:CBD 5 mg/kg BW	THC:CBD 10 mg/kg BW
Ki-67 (%)	42.44 ± 8.64^{a}	22.13 ± 3.22^{b}	28.69 ± 9.25 ^b	20.66 ± 8.21 ^b	19.17 ± 6.23 ^b
PCNA (%)	40.28 ± 5.97^{a}	21.70 ± 2.79 ^b	25.15 ± 10.66^{b}	$20.17 \pm 5.07^{\rm b}$	18.50 ± 3.96 ^b
BAX (%/mm ²)	20.51 ± 6.62^{b}	35.04 ± 5.93^{a}	27.31 ± 1.70^{b}	34.46 ± 3.77^{a}	40.20 ± 7.89^{a}
BCL-2 (%/mm ²)	10.97 ± 0.63^{a}	5.74 ± 1.34^{b}	6.41 ± 0.92^{b}	5.86 ± 0.74 ^b	5.09 ± 0.76^{b}
BAX/BCL-2 ratio	$1.88 \pm 0.62^{\rm b}$	6.50 ± 2.35^{a}	4.35 ± 0.81^{b}	5.98 ± 1.17^{a}	8.17 ± 2.48^{a}
Caspase-3 (cells/HPF)	9.14 ± 1.83^{b}	14.26 ± 2.19^{a}	13.86 ± 1.72^{a}	15.61 ± 1.73^{a}	17.75 ± 2.16^{a}
Caspase-8	ัย SITY	'			ſ

The values were shown as mean ± SD; The statistical difference was appraised by the one-way ANOVA and post hoc test

 a,b Mean with different letters in the same row were significant difference among groups (ho < 0.01)

4.4.2. Western blot

Although, the expression of proliferative markers (Ki-67 and PCNA) and apoptotic-related markers (BAX, BCL-2, and Caspase-3) were detected via qRT-PCR and IHC, however, WB was conducted to confirm the qRT-PCR and IHC results. The WB results were presented in Fig. 15.

The WB results showed that the relative protein expression levels of Ki-67 were significantly dropped (p < 0.05) in cannabinoid-treated groups (5 mg/kg BW and 10 mg/kg BW) and the PC group compared to the NC group. However, there was not significantly different (p > 0.05) in cannabinoid-treated group at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW and the NC group (Fig. 15b). Meanwhile, the relative protein expression levels of PCNA were dramatically decreased (p < 0.05) in cannabinoid-treated groups compared to the NC group (Fig. 15c).

The relative expression levels of pro-apoptotic protein BAX increased significantly (p < 0.05) in cannabinoid-treated groups (5 mg/kg BW and 10 mg/kg BW) and the PC group relative to the NC group (Fig. 15d), while the relative expression levels of anti-apoptotic protein BCL-2 were dramatically decreased (p < 0.05) in cannabinoid-treated groups and the PC group compared to the NC group (Fig. 15e). Similarly, the relative protein expression levels of BAX/BCL-2 ratio were statistically different (p < 0.05) in cannabinoid-treated groups (5 mg/kg BW and 10 mg/kg BW) and the PC group relative to the NC group (Fig. 15f). Contradictorily, the relative expression levels of protein BAX and BAX/BCL-2 ratio in the treated group of cannabinoids at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW were not significantly different (p > 0.05) compared to the NC group (Fig. 15d, f).

The Caspase-3 protein expression levels were statistically significant (p < 0.05) in cannabinoid-treated groups and the PC group in comparison with the NC group (Fig. 15g). Besides, the Caspase-8 protein expression levels were dramatically increased (p < 0.01) in the PC group when compared with the NC group, meanwhile, there was not statistically significant (p > 0.05) in cannabinoid-treated groups and the NC group (Fig. 15h).



Figure 15: The representative WB results (a) and relative protein expression levels of Ki-67 (b), PCNA (c), BAX (d), BCL-2 (e), BAX/BCL-2 ratio (f), Caspase-3 (g), and Caspase-8 (h) among the NC group, PC group, and treatment groups (THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg BW). The values were shown as mean \pm SD. The statistical difference was calculated by the Kruskal-Wallis test. ^{a,b} Mean with different letters were significant differences among groups (p < 0.05).

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

PDAC is the most frequent and lethal neoplasm of human exocrine pancreas (Wolfgang et al., 2013; Kleeff et al., 2016; Orth et al., 2019). Even though several significant methods were prior developed. At present, the suitable therapeutic methods for PDAC are understudied but there is still a major challenge for scientists worldwide. One of the most concerns in the treatment of human PDAC is a poor response at the late stage, resistance exhibited, and the side effects of the therapeutic agents (Kleeff et al., 2016; Orth et al., 2019). Thus, developing novel strategies for the treatment of PDAC in humans are necessarily needed. Herbal medicinal plants have been inclined noticed due to their effects in the treatment of human cancers. Of these, cannabis and its compounds have remarkably risen as a potential therapy for the treatment of several human tumors (Massi et al., 2004; Carracedo et al., 2006a; McKallip et al., 2006; Preet et al., 2008; Ramer et al., 2010; Guo et al., 2018). The antitumor effect was reported in four main ways, including 1) inhibition of tumor cell proliferation, 2) induction of apoptosis, 3) inhibition of angiogenesis, invasion and metastasis, and 4) induction of antitumor immunity (Zhu et al., 1998; Guzman, 2003). Besides, the early studies noted that THC and CBD are one of the most active components within the Cannabis plants (Guzman, 2003; Velasco et al., 2016). Furthermore, the combination between THC and CBD exerted an increase in antitumor effects compared with the single use of individual components (Torres et al., 2011; Nabissi et al., 2016). In the current study, the combination of THC:CBD with a ratio of 1:6 was investigated the antitumor effects within a human PDAC cell line (Capan-2) derived xenograft nude mice model. The findings of this study illustrated that cannabinoids (THC:CBD) at a ratio of 1:6 could inhibit proliferation and induce apoptosis in human PDAC xenograft nude mice models.

Over the years, laboratory animal models (especially immunodeficient mice) have been considered as the gold standard for testing the preclinical efficacy or evaluating the development of new anticancer drugs in humans (Lu et al., 2017; Yoshida, 2020; Golan et al., 2021; Luo et al., 2022). For PDAC, several previous studies

indicated that BALB/c nude mouse has been a suitable model for exploring the mechanisms of antitumor drugs, including cannabinoids (Li et al., 2011; Jonckheere et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2020). The BALB/c immunocompromised mice lacked T-cell lymphocytes that could be useful for transplanting and proliferating human cell lines into the subcutaneous region (Morton and Houghton, 2007; Okada et al., 2019). In this work, the BALB/c strain mice lacked T-cell lymphocytes which were selected to receive the Capan-2 cell line at the right flank region. The transplanted tumors were well formed in the injected region and increased the volume over the experiment time with no statistical difference in all groups. Besides, there was no metastasis into other internal organs of the xenograft nude mice. The classification of the xenograft tumors showed the same characteristic as the original pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in humans based on the guideline of WHO (Bosman et al., 2010). This finding may confirm that BALB/c nude mouse was a suitable model for transplanting the human Capan-2 cell line.

In recent years, THC and CBD have been popularly accepted as the most active ingredient of cannabinoids derived from Cannabis plants (Guzman, 2003; Velasco et al., 2016). Various in vitro and in vivo studies showed a higher effect on the combined use of THC:CBD (1:1) in comparison with the single use of each ingredient agent (Torres et al., 2011; Nabissi et al., 2016). In fact, oral administration of THC:CBD at a 1:1 ratio and Temozolomide on xenograft nude mice model was demonstrated as a potential therapy for human glioblastoma multiforme (López-Valero et al., 2018). Likewise, the daily oral administration of THC:CBD (1:1) on human PDACderived knockout mice models was investigated (Yang et al., 2020). However, there are concerns about the differences in transplanted regions, doses, and testing time among prior studies. In the current study, THC:CBD (1:6) at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg BW was daily gavaged into the BALB/c xenograft nude mice models to evaluate the effect of cannabinoids on human PDAC. Although this is not the first report of testing cannabinoids on BALB/c nude mice, the present study first revealed the effect of cannabinoids at a wide range of testing doses and a long time of experiment compared with the previous findings (López-Valero et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2020). Throughout the study, the examination of xenograft tumors displayed that the increase of THC:CBD dose did not affect the percentage of tumor volume change among groups. Additionally, the percentage of necrotic area was also not significantly different in each group. Meanwhile, the histopathological examination showed that the increase of THC:CBD dose led to the risen of apoptotic cells while the reduction of mitotic cells compared to the NC group. The M/A analysis indicated that higher doses of cannabinoids fell down the M/A ratio among groups. Taken together, increasing a dose of cannabinoids could promote the antitumor effect but did not associate with the tumor volume change. Furthermore, it seems that the appearance of necrotic areas in the xenograft tumors was related to nutrient deprivation and hypoxia (Lee et al., 2018) more than the effect of cannabinoids. Our results additionally imply that daily oral administration at a ratio of 1:6 should be selected for THC:CBD uses, at least on the human PDAC.

Antimetabolite 5-FU was selected as the positive control in the present work. 5-FU has been used worldwide in the treatment of numerous human cancers over the decades (Longley et al., 2003; Wigmore et al., 2010). Metabolically, 5-FU works as a chemotherapeutic agent that inhibits the enzyme thymidylate synthase, accordingly blocking thymidine formation and inhibiting RNA and DNA replication and repair in the sensitive cells. DNA damage leads to the activation of the tumor suppressor p53, consequently the trigger of apoptosis activity in the cells (Longley et al., 2003; Wigmore et al., 2010). Clinically, 5-FU has been well-known as a chemotherapeutic drug for several human cancers, especially human pancreatic cancer (Longley et al., 2003; Wilkowski et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2014). Besides, 5-FU has been combined with other chemotherapeutic agents to increase the therapeutic effects and decrease the side effects in the patients (Longley et al., 2003). In addition, laboratory animal studies have utilized 5-FU as a positive control on the development of new drugs (Miyake et al., 2012; de la Cueva et al., 2013).

The antitumor effect of cannabinoids has been partly reflected via inhibiting tumor cell proliferation. It is shown that cannabinoids modulated cell cycle checkpoints in the tumor cells via CB1 and CB2 receptors, consequently blocking tumor cell proliferation (Zhu et al., 1998; Guzman, 2003). In fact, the prior investigations showed that THC-induced cell cycle arrest at the G2-M phase in

human breast cancer cells (Caffarel et al., 2006). In addition, CBD blocked the cell cycle during the period of the G0-G1 phase in gastric cancer cells (Zhang et al., 2019). Moreover, the separate use of THC or CBD-induced cell cycle arrest at only the G0-G1 phase while combined THC and CBD-induced cell cycle arrest at the period of the GO-G1 and G2-M phase in human glioblastoma (Marcu et al., 2010). The heterogeneous effect of THC and CBD on induced cell cycle arrest in various tumor cells promotes the further investigation of proliferation markers for detailed antitumor effects of cannabinoids. For decades, nuclear antigen Ki-67 and PCNA (proliferating cell nuclear antigen) were recruited as the most popular proliferation markers for numerous human cancer studies worldwide (latropoulos and Williams, 1996; Gil and Vagnarelli, 2018; Li et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2020). It is noteworthy that the combination of Ki-67 and PCNA improved the sensitivity and specificity in the diagnosis of proliferated cells (Bantis et al., 2004; Zhong et al., 2008). In fact, Ki-67 and PCNA were widely used in clinical diagnosis and laboratory animal studies of human cancers, especially within the xenograft mice model (Bantis et al., 2004; Zhong et al., 2008; Li et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2020). Consistent with previous studies, the present study performed both Ki-67 and PCNA markers to detect the proliferated cells in the human PDAC in xenograft nude mice models.

The nuclear antigen Ki-67 has been commonly documented as a classical marker for cell proliferation and upregulated expression in all active phases, except G0 phase (Pezzilli et al., 2016; Gil and Vagnarelli, 2018). Clinically, the Ki-67 score has been utilized for grading types of tumors and contributing to prognostic (Gil and Vagnarelli, 2018). In the laboratory, Ki-67 is useful for evaluating the effect of chemotherapy drugs on human cancer cell lines (Li et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2020). However, there are no studies that apply the Ki-67 marker for evaluating the antitumor effect of cannabinoids in the human PDAC xenograft model. Of note, a prior study on human glioblastoma cells has demonstrated that only THC dramatically reduced the number of Ki-67 positive cells, meanwhile, CBD was not showing any changes and the effect was abolished when combining THC and CBD (Kolbe et al., 2021). In our study, it was observed that the percentage of Ki-67 positive cells were significantly decreased in all cannabinoid-treated groups

(THC:CBD, 1:6) relative to the NC group. However, cannabinoids at the lowest dose (1 mg/kg BW) could not affect the relative expression level of protein Ki-67 compared to the NC group in human PDAC tumor cells by WB. Indeed, the combination of THC and CBD reduced the expression of Ki-67 in human glioblastoma cells (Kolbe et al., 2021). Based on our results, the interaction between cannabinoids and the expression of Ki-67 should address in further studies.

Regarding our work, the positive labeling of PCNA cells via IHC and the relative level of protein PCNA expression via WB dramatically dropped in the treatment groups compared to the NC group. PCNA has been popularly accepted as the most used cell proliferation marker in previous studies (latropoulos and Williams, 1996; Ye et al., 2020). It is a nuclear protein that plays an essential role in the synthesis, resynthesis of DNA, and regulation of the cell cycle. PCNA has upregulated expression in the late stage of the G1, got peak at S, G2, and declined at M phases (latropoulos and Williams, 1996; Kelman, 1997; Tehseen et al., 2019; Ye et al., 2020). Clinically, PCNA has been applied to the diagnosis and prognosis of several human tumors (Jurikova et al., 2016; Ye et al., 2020). For PDAC, a prior in vivo study demonstrated that PCNA was a vital biomarker to confirm the proliferation of tumor cells and was used to investigate the effect of tumor therapeutic drugs on xenograft animal models. Similarly, the current study suggests that PCNA could be applied as a proliferation marker for assessing the antitumor impact of cannabinoids in the human PDAC xenograft model. These results, coupled with Ki-67 results, imply that THC:CBD (1:6) could inhibit PDAC cell proliferation in xenograft nude mice models.

On the other hand, cannabinoids have been related to the part of the apoptosis induction within various tumors, especially PDAC (Guzman, 2003; Carracedo et al., 2006b; Kim et al., 2016). Apoptosis is a complex physiological process that occurs as the homeostatic mechanism to ensure the balance of cell populations in the tissue of eukaryotes. There are two principal pathways to activate apoptosis that stimulate the intrinsic or extrinsic pathway. In both pathways, it is noted that several involved proteins including BAX, BCL-2, Caspase-3, and Caspase-8 (Hengartner, 2000; Igney and Krammer, 2002; Kumar, 2007). Most prior investigations described that cannabinoids induce apoptotic via the activation of the intrinsic pathway (Carracedo

et al., 2006a) while stimulation of the extrinsic pathway is still understudied (Herrera et al., 2006). This current study investigated the effect of cannabinoids in both intrinsic and extrinsic pathways through the level of mRNA and protein expression of BAX, BCL-2, Caspase-3, and Caspase-8 in human PDAC xenograft tumors. The findings of this study indicated that cannabinoids induced apoptosis by upregulation of BAX and Caspase-3, downregulation of BCL-2, and may not be involved with the activation of Caspase-8. These findings were similar to the results of the previous studies that apoptosis induced by cannabinoids was strictly related to the intrinsic pathway (Carracedo et al., 2006a).

The upregulation of pro-apoptotic protein BAX is associated with the permeabilization of the mitochondrial outer membrane, permitting the release of cytochrome C, thus promoting mitochondrial apoptotic via an intrinsic pathway (Adams and Cory, 2007; Kumar, 2007; Roufayel, 2016). A previous investigation displayed that CBD stimulated the expression of protein BAX and inhibited protein BCL-2 expression, resulting in apoptosis within the human gastric cancer cell line (Zhang et al., 2019). In this study, mRNA expression of BAX was increased markedly in cannabinoid-treated groups at a dose of 5 mg/kg BW and 10 mg/kg BW while low expressed in the NC group. Similarly, the expression of protein BAX in cannabinoidtreated groups at a dose of 5 mg/kg BW and 10 mg/kg BW was dramatically higher than those in the NC group. Our results were in agreement with the earlier study that cannabinoids were associated with the upregulation of BAX levels (Lukhele and Motadi, 2016; Zhang et al., 2019). Contrastingly, the statistically low mRNA and protein BAX expression in the NC group may suggest that a small percentage of BAX molecular occurs in an unphosphorylated state under normal conditions (Adams and Cory, 2007). Besides, the current study showed that the lowest dose of cannabinoids (1 mg/kg BW) could not affect the expression of BAX. Altogether, it implies that apoptosis of human PDAC xenograft tumor was involved with the upregulation of BAX protein compared to the NC group.

The anti-apoptotic protein BCL-2 is believed to inhibit the activity of protein BAX, blocking the connection of cytochrome C and caspase proteins, thus preventing downstream activation of apoptosis via an intrinsic pathway (Adams and Cory, 2007;

54

Kumar, 2007; Roufayel, 2016). Clinically, a previous study conducted on PDAC demonstrated that the upregulation of BCL-2 level was inversely correlated with the overall survival time of the patients (Contis et al., 2018). It is implied that silencing of BCL-2 may stimulate apoptosis in cancer cells (Rückert et al., 2010; Contis et al., 2018). According to this study, the levels of mRNA expression, percentage of protein expression (%), and relative protein BCL-2 expression significantly dropped in the treatment groups compared to the NC group. The obtained results displayed that the downregulation of BCL-2 levels is associated with the activation of apoptosis in human PDAC xenograft tumors. Likewise, recent studies reported that cannabinoids downregulated BCL-2 levels in mouse pancreatic β cell lines and human gastric cancer cell lines (Kim et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2019).

Remarkably, BAX/BCL-2 ratio has been widely accepted as a protein expression pattern to estimate the eventual outcome of apoptosis expression in cancer patients (Del Poeta et al., 2003; Kulsoom et al., 2018; Krstic et al., 2022). An imbalance of protein BAX and BCL-2 expression may associate with the activation of the apoptosis process in cancer cells (Adams and Cory, 2007; Kumar, 2007; Zhang et al., 2019). However, individual use of BAX and BCL-2 expression patterns could be associated with unclear evidence of apoptosis expression (Kulsoom et al., 2018). Therefore, the current study additionally utilized this ratio to assess the apoptosis expression in the human PDAC-derived xenograft nude mice model. As presented in our results, the BAX/BCL-2 ratio was significantly different between the cannabinoid-treated groups at a dose of 5 mg/kg BW, 10 mg/kg BW, and the NC group. Considering individual expression of BAX and BCL-2 protein showed the upregulation of protein BAX and downregulation of protein BCL-2 in the treated groups compared to the NC group. The consequence was an increased BAX/BCL-2 ratio in cannabinoid-treated groups. The increase in BAX/BCL-2 ratio reflected the critical confirmation of tumor cell death (Del Poeta et al., 2003; Kulsoom et al., 2018; Krstic et al., 2022). Similarly, a previous study demonstrated that CBD stimulated apoptosis via downregulation of protein BCL-2 and upregulation of protein BAX in gastric cancer cell lines (Zhang et al., 2019). Thus, this result confirms that cannabinoids could promote apoptosis in

the human PDAC xenograft model with the upregulated BAX, downregulated BCL-2, and upregulated BAX/BCL-2 ratio.

Pro-apoptotic protein Caspase-3 has been well known as one of the most important proteins in the apoptosis process, which cleavages the substrates of cells. Both intrinsic and extrinsic apoptosis pathways have converged to Caspase-3. Activation of the Caspase-3 protein has directly related to the response of apoptosis in cancer cells (Porter and Jänicke, 1999; Hengartner, 2000; Kumar, 2007; Wong, 2011). This study found that the mRNA expression level of Caspase-3 was significantly increased in the treatment groups with cannabinoids. Likewise, the expression of protein Caspase-3 was dramatically high in the treatment groups in comparison to the NC group. The level of protein Caspase-3 raised in cannabinoid groups, consequently inducing apoptosis in the human PDAC xenograft model. Consistent with previous studies, cannabinoids upregulated protein Caspase-3, resulting in activated apoptosis (Herrera et al., 2006; Marcu et al., 2010; Lukhele and Motadi, 2016; López-Valero et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2019). For human pancreatic cancer, protein Caspase-3 was activated by cannabinoids in in vitro study, which ultimately resulted in apoptosis (Carracedo et al., 2006a). These studies suggested that activation of protein Caspase-3 could lead to induce apoptosis in cancer cells. Similarly, the obtained results of this study once again confirm that cannabinoids stimulate apoptosis in the human PDAC xenograft model by upregulation of protein Caspase-3.

Contrarily, the current results presented that cannabinoids could not relate to the mRNA expression of the *Caspase-8* gene. Similarly, the relative protein expression of Caspase-8 in xenograft tumors was not significantly different among cannabinoid-treated groups and the NC group. Meanwhile, the expression of protein Caspase-8 was not detected via IHC in all groups. Caspase-8 – a pro-apoptotic protein triggered by outside stimuli through death receptors in the cell membrane. The Caspase-8 expression has related to the extrinsic apoptotic pathway (Hengartner, 2000; Igney and Krammer, 2002; Kumar, 2007). On the other hand, cannabinoids specifically respond with cells via CB1 and CB2 receptors (Mackie and Stella, 2006). Indeed, the earlier investigation showed that the activation of the CB2 receptor was involved with the activation of the intrinsic apoptosis pathway (Herrera et al., 2006). Likewise, the current finding implies that cannabinoids induced apoptosis in the human PDAC xenograft tumors which may not be associated with the activation of Caspase-8. Taken together with the findings of BAX, BCL-2, and Caspase-3, these data suggest that apoptosis induced via the treatment of cannabinoids in human PDAC xenograft tumors was rather involved with the intrinsic apoptosis pathway.

The present study encountered unavoidable limitations. First, we developed this study from the prior project, all xenograft tumors were inherited from the previous animal experiment. However, we strongly confirm that the xenograft tumor examination, metastasis examination, as well as gene and protein expression study were performed, and these results were interpreted and revised by the author. Furthermore, the present work was carried out to address the limitations of the prior study and was separated from the initial project. Accordingly, it is believed that effectuating this study is necessarily required. Second, the fluorescence assays to demonstrate the DNA fragmentation in apoptotic cells were not performed in the current study. Several studies mentioned the fluorescence assays to detect fragmented DNA strands such as a terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated deoxyuridine triphosphate nick end labeling (TUNEL) assay or Hoechst dye (Kraiphet et al., 2018; López-Valero et al., 2018; Jeong et al., 2019). These assays could help to increase the reliability of the study by clearly indicating cell death via fluorescence signals. Nevertheless, the immunoexpression of apoptotic-related proteins in both intrinsic and extrinsic pathways (BAX, BCL-2, Caspase-3, and Caspase-8) has been reflected as a powerful tool and has generally been applied to evaluate program cell death (Wong, 2011; Hasui et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2013; Shi and Stack, 2015). Besides, the current study recruited WB which is widely mentioned as a gold standard for assessing protein expressions (Murphy and Lamb, 2013; Vallejo-Illarramendi et al., 2013). Therefore, the combination of immunoexpression and WB results are probably sufficient to evaluate apoptosis in human PDAC xenograft tumor cells. Third, the activation of protein p53 was not examined in this study. Protein p53 plays a central role in promoting apoptosis via the upregulation of protein BAX and the downregulation of protein BCL-2 within the intrinsic pathway (Hengartner, 2000;

Adams and Cory, 2007; Wong, 2011). Hence, the current study only focused on the expression of the BCL-2 family members such as BAX and BCL-2. Four, the role of the Apaf-1 protein was excluded in the present study. The Apaf-1 protein is considered as a factor that activates protein Caspase-3 when the appeared cytochrome C combined with dATP in the cytoplasm (Hengartner, 2000; Adams and Cory, 2007; Roufayel, 2016). However, a previous study indicated that the Apaf-1 factor was not necessarily required in the activation of apoptosis within gene-deleted mice. The absence of the Apaf-1 gene is only associated with the rate of the apoptotic process in the gene-deleted mice model (Ekert et al., 2004). For further studies, the limitations of this research should be noticed and addressed.

In summary, this study revealed that cannabinoids (THC:CBD) (1:6) could inhibit the proliferation and induce apoptosis in human PDAC xenograft nude mice models. Furthermore, the study additionally illustrates that the anti-apoptotic effect of cannabinoids on the human PDAC xenograft nude mice model could be associated with the intrinsic pathway. With obtained results, the current study contributes new insights to the fundamental knowledge regarding the potential therapeutic role of cannabinoids for human PDAC cell lines derived xenograft nude mouse model. This study may additionally contribute to accommodating more therapeutic targets for human-occurring pancreatic adenocarcinoma in the future.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

REFERENCES



Chulalongkorn University

- Adams JM and Cory S 2007. The Bcl-2 apoptotic switch in cancer development and therapy. Oncogene. 26(9): 1324-1337.
- Amar MB 2006. Cannabinoids in medicine: A review of their therapeutic potential. Journal of ethnopharmacology. 105(1-2): 1-25.
- Bantis A, Giannopoulos A, Gonidi M, Liossi A, Aggelonidou E, Petrakakou E, Athanassiades P and Athanassiadou P 2004. Expression of p120, Ki-67 and PCNA as proliferation biomarkers in imprint smears of prostate carcinoma and their prognostic value. Cytopathology. 15(1): 25-31.
- Blázquez C, Carracedo A, Barrado L, Jose Real P, Luis Fernández-Luna J, Velasco G, Malumbres M, Guzmán M, Blázquez C and Carracedo A 2006. Cannabinoid receptors as novel targets for the treatment of melanoma. The FASEB journal. 20(14): 2633-2635.
- Borhani N, Manoochehri M, Gargari SS, Novin MG, Mansouri A and Omrani MD 2014. Decreased expression of proapoptotic genes caspase-8-and BCL2-associated agonist of cell death (BAD) in ovarian cancer. Clinical Ovarian and Other Gynecologic Cancer. 7(1-2): 18-23.
- Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH and Theise ND 2010. WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. In: World Health Organization.
- Caffarel MM, Sarrió D, Palacios J, Guzmán M and Sánchez C 2006. Δ 9tetrahydrocannabinol inhibits cell cycle progression in human breast cancer cells through Cdc2 regulation. Cancer research. 66(13): 6615-6621.
- Carracedo A, Gironella M, Lorente M, Garcia S, Guzmán M, Velasco G and Iovanna JL 2006a. Cannabinoids induce apoptosis of pancreatic tumor cells via endoplasmic reticulum stress-related genes. Cancer research. 66(13): 6748-6755.
- Carracedo A, Lorente M, Egia A, Blázquez C, García S, Giroux V, Malicet C, Villuendas R, Gironella M and González-Feria L 2006b. The stress-regulated protein p8 mediates cannabinoid-induced apoptosis of tumor cells. Cancer cell. 9(4): 301-312.

- Casanova ML, Blázquez C, Martínez-Palacio J, Villanueva C, Fernández-Aceñero MJ, Huffman JW, Jorcano JL and Guzmán M 2003. Inhibition of skin tumor growth and angiogenesis in vivo by activation of cannabinoid receptors. The Journal of clinical investigation. 111(1): 43-50.
- Contis J, Lykoudis PM, Goula K, Karandrea D and Kondi-Pafiti A 2018. Survivin expression as an independent predictor of overall survival in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Journal of Cancer Research and Therapeutics. 14(10): 719.
- Chan P, Sills R, Braun A, Haseman J and Bucher J 1996. Toxicity and carcinogenicity of Δ 9-tetrahydrocannabinol in Fischer rats and B6C3F1 mice. Fundamental and applied toxicology. 30(1): 109-117.
- de la Cueva A, Ramirez de Molina A, Alvarez-Ayerza N, Ramos MA, Cebrián A, Pulgar TGd and Lacal JC 2013. Combined 5-FU and ChoK ŠŠ inhibitors as a new alternative therapy of colorectal cancer: evidence in human tumor-derived cell lines and mouse xenografts. PloS one. 8(6): e64961.
- De Petrocellis L, Melck D, Palmisano A, Bisogno T, Laezza C, Bifulco M and Di Marzo V 1998. The endogenous cannabinoid anandamide inhibits human breast cancer cell proliferation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 95(14): 8375-8380.
- Del Poeta G, Venditti A, Del Principe MI, Maurillo L, Buccisano F, Tamburini A, Cox MC, Franchi A, Bruno A and Mazzone C 2003. Amount of spontaneous apoptosis detected by Bax/Bcl-2 ratio predicts outcome in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) Presented in part at the 42nd annual meeting of the American Society of Hematology, San Francisco, CA, December 1-5, 2000.46. Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology. 101(6): 2125-2131.
- Devane WA, Hanus L, Breuer A, Pertwee RG, Stevenson LA, Griffin G, Gibson D, Mandelbaum A, Etinger A and Mechoulam R 1992. Isolation and structure of a brain constituent that binds to the cannabinoid receptor. Science. 258(5090): 1946-1949.

- Duque-Parra JE 2005. Note on the origin and history of the term "apoptosis". The Anatomical Record Part B: The New Anatomist: An Official Publication of the American Association of Anatomists. 283(1): 2-4.
- Ekert PG, Read SH, Silke J, Marsden VS, Kaufmann H, Hawkins CJ, Gerl R, Kumar S and Vaux DL 2004. Apaf-1 and caspase-9 accelerate apoptosis, but do not determine whether factor-deprived or drug-treated cells die. The Journal of cell biology. 165(6): 835-842.
- Ellert-Miklaszewska A, Kaminska B and Konarska L 2005. Cannabinoids down-regulate PI3K/Akt and Erk signalling pathways and activate proapoptotic function of Bad protein. Cellular signalling. 17(1): 25-37.
- Ferreira T and Rasband W 2012. ImageJ user guide. ImageJ/Fiji. 1: 155-161.
- Ferro R, Adamska A, Lattanzio R, Mavrommati I, Edling C, Arifin S, Fyffe C, Sala G, Sacchetto L and Chiorino G 2018. GPR55 signalling promotes proliferation of pancreatic cancer cells and tumour growth in mice, and its inhibition increases effects of gemcitabine. Oncogene. 37(49): 6368-6382.
- Fogli S, Nieri P, Chicca A, Adinolfi B, Mariotti V, Iacopetti P, Breschi MC and Pellegrini S 2006. Cannabinoid derivatives induce cell death in pancreatic MIA PaCa-2 cells via a receptor-independent mechanism. FEBS letters. 580(7): 1733-1739.
- Fujii M, Sherchan P, Soejima Y, Hasegawa Y, Flores J, Doycheva D and Zhang JH 2014. Cannabinoid receptor type 2 agonist attenuates apoptosis by activation of phosphorylated CREB–Bcl-2 pathway after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Experimental neurology. 261: 396-403.
- Gaoni Y and Mechoulam R 1964. Isolation, structure, and partial synthesis of an active constituent of hashish. Journal of the American chemical society. 86(8): 1646-1647.
- Garcia-Ortiz A, Martin-Cofreces NB, Ibiza S, Ortega A, Izquierdo-Alvarez A, Trullo A, Victor VM, Calvo E, Sot B and Martinez-Ruiz A 2017. eNOS S-nitrosylates β -actin on Cys374 and regulates PKC- θ at the immune synapse by impairing actin binding to profilin-1. PLoS biology. 15(4): e2000653.

- Golan T, Atias D, Stossel C and Raitses-Gurevich M 2021. Patient-derived xenograft models of BRCA-associated pancreatic cancers. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews.
- Guo X, Ling X, Du F, Wang Q, Huang W, Wang Z, Ding X, Bai M and Wu Z 2018. Molecular imaging of pancreatic duct adenocarcinoma using a type 2 cannabinoid receptor-targeted near-infrared fluorescent probe. Translational oncology. 11(5): 1065-1073.
- Guzman M 2003. Cannabinoids: potential anticancer agents. Nature reviews cancer. 3(10): 745-755.
- Gil RS and Vagnarelli P 2018. Ki-67: more hidden behind a 'classic proliferation marker'. Trends in biochemical sciences. 43(10): 747-748.
- Häcker G 2000. The morphology of apoptosis. Cell and tissue research. 301(1): 5-17.
- Hasui K, Nagai T, Wang J, Jia X, Aozasa K, Izumo S, Kawano Y, Kanekura T, Eizuru Y and Matsuyama T 2012. Immunohistochemistry of programmed cell death in archival human pathology specimens. Cells. 1(2): 74-88.
- Hengartner MO 2000. The biochemistry of apoptosis. Nature. 407(6805): 770-776.
- Herrera B, Carracedo A, Diez-Zaera M, del Pulgar TG, Guzmán M and Velasco G 2006. The CB2 cannabinoid receptor signals apoptosis via ceramide-dependent activation of the mitochondrial intrinsic pathway. Experimental cell research. 312(11): 2121-2131.
- Huang WJ, Chen WW and Zhang X 2016. Endocannabinoid system: Role in depression, reward and pain control. Molecular medicine reports. 14(4): 2899-2903.
- Iatropoulos MJ and Williams GM 1996. Proliferation markers. Experimental and Toxicologic Pathology. 48(2-3): 175-181.
- Ibrahim A, Lashen A, Toss M, Mihai R and Rakha E 2022. Assessment of mitotic activity in breast cancer: revisited in the digital pathology era. Journal of Clinical Pathology. 75(6): 365-372.
- Igney FH and Krammer PH 2002. Death and anti-death: tumour resistance to apoptosis. Nature Reviews Cancer. 2(4): 277-288.
- Israels E and Israels L 2000. The cell cycle. The oncologist. 5(6): 510-513.

- Iyer G, Wang AR, Brennan SR, Bourgeois S, Armstrong E, Shah P and Harari PM 2017. Identification of stable housekeeping genes in response to ionizing radiation in cancer research. Scientific reports. 7(1): 1-9.
- Jeong S, Yun HK, Jeong YA, Jo MJ, Kang SH, Kim JL, Kim DY, Park SH, Kim BR and Na YJ 2019. Cannabidiol-induced apoptosis is mediated by activation of Noxa in human colorectal cancer cells. Cancer letters. 447: 12-23.
- Johnson RW, Finger EC, Olcina MM, Vilalta M, Aguilera T, Miao Y, Merkel AR, Johnson JR, Sterling JA and Wu JY 2016. Induction of LIFR confers a dormancy phenotype in breast cancer cells disseminated to the bone marrow. Nature cell biology. 18(10): 1078-1089.
- Jonckheere N, Skrypek N, Merlin J, Dessein AF, Dumont P, Leteurtre E, Harris A, Desseyn J-L, Susini C and Frénois F 2012. The mucin MUC4 and its membrane partner ErbB2 regulate biological properties of human CAPAN-2 pancreatic cancer cells via different signalling pathways. PLoS One. 7(2): e32232.
- Jurikova M, Danihel Ľ, Polák Š and Varga I 2016. Ki67, PCNA, and MCM proteins: Markers of proliferation in the diagnosis of breast cancer. Acta histochemica. 118(5): 544-552.
- Kamisawa T, Wood LD, Itoi T and Takaori K 2016. Pancreatic cancer. The Lancet. 388(10039): 73-85.
- Karaliotas GI, Mavridis K, Scorilas A and Babis GC 2015. Quantitative analysis of the mRNA expression levels of BCL2 and BAX genes in human osteoarthritis and normal articular cartilage: An investigation into their differential expression. Molecular Medicine Reports. 12(3): 4514-4521.
- Kastan MB and Bartek J 2004. Cell-cycle checkpoints and cancer. Nature. 432(7015): 316-323.
- Kelman Z 1997. PCNA: structure, functions and interactions. Oncogene. 14(6): 629-640.
- Kim J, Lee KJ, Kim JS, Rho JG, Shin JJ, Song WK, Lee EK, Egan JM and Kim W 2016. Cannabinoids regulate Bcl-2 and cyclin D2 expression in pancreatic β cells. Plos one. 11(3): e0150981.

- Kleeff J, Korc M, Apte M, La Vecchia C, Johnson CD, Biankin AV, Neale RE, Tempero M, Tuveson DA and Hruban RH 2016. Pancreatic cancer. Nature reviews Disease primers. 2(1): 1-22.
- Kolbe MR, Hohmann T, Hohmann U, Ghadban C, Mackie K, Zöller C, Prell J, Illert J, Strauss C and Dehghani F 2021. THC reduces ki67-immunoreactive cells derived from human primary glioblastoma in a GPR55-dependent manner. Cancers. 13(5): 1064.
- Kovalchuk O and Kovalchuk I 2020. Cannabinoids as anticancer therapeutic agents. Cell Cycle. 19(9): 961-989.
- Kraiphet S, Butryee C, Rungsipipat A, Budda S, Rattanapinyopitak K and Tuntipopipat S 2018. Apoptosis induced by Moringa oleifera Lam. pod in mouse colon carcinoma model. Comparative Clinical Pathology. 27(1): 21-30.
- Krstic A, Pavic A, Avdovic E, Markovic Z, Stevanovic M and Petrovic I 2022. Coumarin-Palladium (II) Complex Acts as a Potent and Non-Toxic Anticancer Agent against Pancreatic Carcinoma Cells. Molecules. 27(7): 2115.
- Kulsoom B, Shamsi TS, Afsar NA, Memon Z, Ahmed N and Hasnain SN 2018. Bax, Bcl-2, and Bax/Bcl-2 as prognostic markers in acute myeloid leukemia: are we ready for Bcl-2-directed therapy? Cancer management and research. 10: 403.
- Kumar S 2007. Caspase function in programmed cell death. Cell Death & Differentiation. 14(1): 32-43.
- Le Boisselier R, Alexandre J, Lelong-Boulouard V and Debruyne D 2017. Focus on cannabinoids and synthetic cannabinoids. Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 101(2): 220-229.
- Lee SY, Ju MK, Jeon HM, Jeong EK, Lee YJ, Kim CH, Park HG, Han SI and Kang HS 2018. Regulation of tumor progression by programmed necrosis. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity. 2018.
- Li HD, Huang C, Huang KJ, Wu WD, Jiang T, Cao J, Feng ZZ and Qiu ZJ 2011. STAT3 knockdown reduces pancreatic cancer cell invasiveness and matrix metalloproteinase-7 expression in nude mice. PLoS One. 6(10): e25941.

- Li P, Wang Q and Wang H 2019. MicroRNA-204 inhibits the proliferation, migration and invasion of human lung cancer cells by targeting PCNA-1 and inhibits tumor growth in vivo. International journal of molecular medicine. 43(3): 1149-1156.
- Longley DB, Harkin DP and Johnston PG 2003. 5-fluorouracil: mechanisms of action and clinical strategies. Nature reviews cancer. 3(5): 330-338.
- López-Valero I, Torres S, Salazar-Roa M, García-Taboada E, Hernández-Tiedra S, Guzmán M, Sepúlveda JM, Velasco G and Lorente M 2018. Optimization of a preclinical therapy of cannabinoids in combination with temozolomide against glioma. Biochemical pharmacology. 157: 275-284.
- Lu Z, Lai Z-Q, Leung AW, Leung PS, Li Z-S and Lin Z-X 2017. Exploring brusatol as a new anti-pancreatic cancer adjuvant: Biological evaluation and mechanistic studies. Oncotarget. 8(49): 84974.
- Lukhele ST and Motadi LR 2016. Cannabidiol rather than Cannabis sativa extracts inhibit cell growth and induce apoptosis in cervical cancer cells. BMC complementary and alternative medicine. 16(1): 1-16.
- Luo C-K, Chou P-H, Ng S-K, Lin W-Y and Wei T-T 2022. Cannabinoids orchestrate cross-talk between cancer cells and endothelial cells in colorectal cancer. Cancer Gene Therapy. 29(5): 597-611.
- Mackie K and Stella N 2006. Cannabinoid receptors and endocannabinoids: evidence for new players. The AAPS journal. 8(2): E298-E306.
- Marcu JP, Christian RT, Lau D, Zielinski AJ, Horowitz MP, Lee J, Pakdel A, Allison J, Limbad C and Moore DH 2010. Cannabidiol enhances the inhibitory effects of Δ 9-tetrahydrocannabinol on human glioblastoma cell proliferation and survival. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 9(1): 180-189.
- Massi P, Vaccani A, Ceruti S, Colombo A, Abbracchio MP and Parolaro D 2004. Antitumor effects of cannabidiol, a nonpsychoactive cannabinoid, on human glioma cell lines. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 308(3): 838-845.
- McAllister SD, Christian RT, Horowitz MP, Garcia A and Desprez P-Y 2007. Cannabidiol as a novel inhibitor of Id-1 gene expression in aggressive breast cancer cells. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 6(11): 2921-2927.

- McKallip RJ, Jia W, Schlomer J, Warren JW, Nagarkatti PS and Nagarkatti M 2006. Cannabidiol-induced apoptosis in human leukemia cells: a novel role of cannabidiol in the regulation of p22phox and Nox4 expression. Molecular Pharmacology. 70(3): 897-908.
- McKallip RJ, Lombard C, Martin BR, Nagarkatti M and Nagarkatti PS 2002. Δ 9-Tetrahydrocannabinol-induced apoptosis in the thymus and spleen as a mechanism of immunosuppression in vitro and in vivo. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 302(2): 451-465.
- Mechoulam R 2019. The pharmacohistory of Cannabis sativa. In: Cannabinoids as therapeutic agents. Chapman and Hall/CRC. 1-20.
- Mechoulam R, Shani A, Edery H and Grunfeld Y 1970. Chemical basis of hashish activity. Science. 169(3945): 611-612.
- Meuten D, Moore F and George J 2016. Mitotic count and the field of view area: time to standardize. Veterinary Pathology. 53(1): 7-9.
- Michalski CW, Oti FE, Erkan M, Sauliunaite D, Bergmann F, Pacher P, Batkai S, Müller MW, Giese NA and Friess H 2008. Cannabinoids in pancreatic cancer: correlation with survival and pain. International journal of cancer. 122(4): 742-750.
- Miyake M, Anai S, Fujimoto K, Ohnishi S, Kuwada M, Nakai Y, Inoue T, Tomioka A, Tanaka N and Hirao Y 2012. 5-fluorouracil enhances the antitumor effect of sorafenib and sunitinib in a xenograft model of human renal cell carcinoma. Oncology letters. 3(6): 1195-1202.
- Morton CL and Houghton PJ 2007. Establishment of human tumor xenografts in immunodeficient mice. Nature protocols. 2(2): 247-250.
- Munson A, Harris L, Friedman M, Dewey W and Carchman R 1975. Antineoplastic activity of cannabinoids. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 55(3): 597-602.
- Murase R, Kawamura R, Singer E, Pakdel A, Sarma P, Judkins J, Elwakeel E, Dayal S, Martinez-Martinez E and Amere M 2014. Targeting multiple cannabinoid antitumour pathways with a resorcinol derivative leads to inhibition of advanced stages of breast cancer. British journal of pharmacology. 171(19): 4464-4477.

- Murphy RM and Lamb GD 2013. Important considerations for protein analyses using antibody based techniques: down-sizing Western blotting up-sizes outcomes. The Journal of physiology. 591(23): 5823-5831.
- Nabissi M, Morelli MB, Offidani M, Amantini C, Gentili S, Soriani A, Cardinali C, Leoni P and Santoni G 2016. Cannabinoids synergize with carfilzomib, reducing multiple myeloma cells viability and migration. Oncotarget. 7(47): 77543.
- Nithipatikom K, Endsley MP, Isbell MA, Falck JR, Iwamoto Y, Hillard CJ and Campbell WB 2004. 2-Arachidonoylglycerol: a novel inhibitor of androgen-independent prostate cancer cell invasion. Cancer research. 64(24): 8826-8830.
- Nurse P, Masui Y and Hartwell L 1998. Understanding the cell cycle. Nature medicine. 4(10): 1103-1106.
- O'Shaughnessy WB 1843. On the preparations of the Indian hemp, or Gunjah: Cannabis indica their effects on the animal system in health, and their utility in the treatment of tetanus and other convulsive diseases. Provincial Medical Journal and Retrospect of the Medical Sciences. 5(123): 363.
- Okada S, Vaeteewoottacharn K and Kariya R 2019. Application of highly immunocompromised mice for the establishment of patient-derived xenograft (PDX) models. Cells. 8(8): 889.
- Orth M, Metzger P, Gerum S, Mayerle J, Schneider G, Belka C, Schnurr M and Lauber K 2019. Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: biological hallmarks, current status, and future perspectives of combined modality treatment approaches. Radiation Oncology. 14(1): 1-20.
- Pezzilli R, Partelli S, Cannizzaro R, Pagano N, Crippa S, Pagnanelli M and Falconi M 2016. Ki-67 prognostic and therapeutic decision driven marker for pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (PNENs): A systematic review. Advances in medical sciences. 61(1): 147-153.
- Portella G, Laezza C, Laccetti P, De Petrocellis L, Di Marzo V and Bifulco M 2003. Inhibitory effects of cannabinoid CB1 receptor stimulation on tumor growth and metastatic spreading: actions on signals involved in angiogenesis and metastasis. The FASEB Journal. 17(12): 1771-1773.

- Porter AG and Jänicke RU 1999. Emerging roles of caspase-3 in apoptosis. Cell death & differentiation. 6(2): 99-104.
- Preet A, Ganju R and Groopman J 2008. Δ 9-Tetrahydrocannabinol inhibits epithelial growth factor-induced lung cancer cell migration in vitro as well as its growth and metastasis in vivo. Oncogene. 27(3): 339-346.
- Ramer R, Merkord J, Rohde H and Hinz B 2010. Cannabidiol inhibits cancer cell invasion via upregulation of tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases-1. Biochemical pharmacology. 79(7): 955-966.
- Robson P 2001. Therapeutic aspects of cannabis and cannabinoids. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 178(2): 107-115.
- Roufayel R 2016. Regulation of stressed-induced cell death by the Bcl-2 family of apoptotic proteins. Molecular membrane biology. 33(6-8): 89-99.
- Rubie C, Kempf K, Hans J, Su T, Tilton B, Georg T, Brittner B, Ludwig B and Schilling M 2005. Housekeeping gene variability in normal and cancerous colorectal, pancreatic, esophageal, gastric and hepatic tissues. Molecular and cellular probes. 19(2): 101-109.
- Rückert F, Samm N, Lehner A-K, Saeger H-D, Grützmann R and Pilarsky C 2010. Simultaneous gene silencing of Bcl-2, XIAP and Survivin re-sensitizes pancreatic cancer cells towards apoptosis. BMC cancer. 10(1): 1-7.
- Sakarin S, Meesiripan N, Sangrajrang S, Suwanpidokkul N, Prayakprom P, Bodhibukkana C, Khaowroongrueng V, Suriyachan K, Thanasittichai S and Srisubat A 2022. Antitumor Effects of Cannabinoids in Human Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma Cell Line (Capan-2)-Derived Xenograft Mouse Model. Frontiers in Veterinary Science. 9.
- Sarfaraz S, Afaq F, Adhami VM and Mukhtar H 2005. Cannabinoid receptor as a novel target for the treatment of prostate cancer. Cancer research. 65(5): 1635-1641.
- Schmittgen TD and Livak KJ 2008. Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative CT method. Nature protocols. 3(6): 1101-1108.
- Shi Z and Stack M 2015. An update on immunohistochemistry in translational cancer research. Cancer Translational Medicine. 1(4).

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE and Jemal A 2021. Cancer statistics, 2021. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 71(1): 7-33.
- Smith MT, Guyton KZ, Kleinstreuer N, Borrel A, Cardenas A, Chiu WA, Felsher DW, Gibbons CF, Goodson WH and Houck KA 2020. The key characteristics of carcinogens: relationship to the hallmarks of cancer, relevant biomarkers, and assays to measure them. Pages 1887-1903 Vol. 29. AACR.
- Solomon P 1968. Medical management of drug dependence. JAMA. 206(7): 1521-1526.
- Song W, Tang L, Xu Y, Xu J, Zhang W, Xie H, Wang S and Guan X 2017. PARP inhibitor increases chemosensitivity by upregulating miR-664b-5p in BRCA1-mutated triple-negative breast cancer. Scientific reports. 7(1): 1-13.
- Soroceanu L, Murase R, Limbad C, Singer E, Allison J, Adrados I, Kawamura R, Pakdel A, Fukuyo Y and Nguyen D 2013. Id-1 is a key transcriptional regulator of glioblastoma aggressiveness and a novel therapeutic target. Cancer research. 73(5): 1559-1569.
- Stathis A and Moore MJ 2010. Advanced pancreatic carcinoma: current treatment and future challenges. Nature reviews Clinical oncology. 7(3): 163-172.
- Tang W and Eisenbrand G 2011. Handbook of Chinese medicinal plants. In: John Wiley [distributor].
- Tehseen M, Raducanu V-S, Rashid F, Shirbini A, Takahashi M and Hamdan SM 2019. Proliferating cell nuclear antigen-agarose column: A tag-free and tag-dependent tool for protein purification affinity chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A. 1602: 341-349.
- Torres S, Lorente M, Rodríguez-Fornés F, Hernández-Tiedra S, Salazar M, García-Taboada E, Barcia J, Guzmán M and Velasco G 2011. A combined preclinical therapy of cannabinoids and temozolomide against glioma. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 10(1): 90-103.
- Vallejo-Illarramendi A, Marciano DK and Reichardt LF 2013. A novel method that improves sensitivity of protein detection in PAGE and Western blot. Electrophoresis. 34(8): 1148-1150.

- Velasco G, Sánchez C and Guzmán M 2012. Towards the use of cannabinoids as antitumour agents. Nature Reviews Cancer. 12(6): 436-444.
- Velasco G, Sánchez C and Guzmán M 2016. Anticancer mechanisms of cannabinoids. Current Oncology. 23(s1): 23-32.
- Vidinsky B, Vidová Z, Solár P, Varinská L, Ivanová L and Mojzis J 2012. Antiproliferative and Anti-angiogenic Effects of CB2R Agonist (JWH-133) in Non-small Lung Cancer CeUs (A549) and Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells: an in Vitro Investigation. Folia biologica. 58(2): 75.
- Wang W-B, Yang Y, Zhao Y-P, Zhang T-P, Liao Q and Shu H 2014. Recent studies of 5fluorouracil resistance in pancreatic cancer. World journal of gastroenterology: WJG. 20(42): 15682.
- Wigmore PM, Mustafa S, El-Beltagy M, Lyons L, Umka J and Bennett G 2010. Effects of 5-FU. In: Chemo fog. Springer. 157-164.
- Wilkowski R, Thoma M, Bruns C, Wagner A and Heinemann V 2006. Chemoradiotherapy with gemcitabine and continuous 5-FU in patients with primary inoperable pancreatic cancer. Jop. 7(4): 349-360.
- Wolfgang CL, Herman JM, Laheru DA, Klein AP, Erdek MA, Fishman EK and Hruban RH 2013. Recent progress in pancreatic cancer. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 63(5): 318-348.
- Wong RS 2011. Apoptosis in cancer: from pathogenesis to treatment. Journal of experimental & clinical cancer research. 30(1): 1-14.
- Yang Y, Huynh N, Dumesny C, Wang K, He H and Nikfarjam M 2020. Cannabinoids Inhibited Pancreatic Cancer via P-21 Activated Kinase 1 Mediated Pathway. International journal of molecular sciences. 21(21): 8035.
- Yasmin-Karim S, Moreau M, Mueller R, Sinha N, Dabney R, Herman A and Ngwa W 2018. Enhancing the therapeutic efficacy of cancer treatment with cannabinoids. Frontiers in oncology. 8: 114.
- Ye X, Ling B, Xu H, Li G, Zhao X, Xu J, Liu J and Liu L 2020. Clinical significance of high expression of proliferating cell nuclear antigen in non-small cell lung cancer. Medicine. 99(16).
- Yoshida GJ 2020. Applications of patient-derived tumor xenograft models and tumor organoids. Journal of hematology & oncology. 13(1): 1-16.
- Zhang X, Qin Y, Pan Z, Li M, Liu X, Chen X, Qu G, Zhou L, Xu M and Zheng Q 2019. Cannabidiol induces cell cycle arrest and cell apoptosis in human gastric cancer SGC-7901 cells. Biomolecules. 9(8): 302.
- Zhao M, Tang S-N, Marsh JL, Shankar S and Srivastava RK 2013. Ellagic acid inhibits human pancreatic cancer growth in Balb c nude mice. Cancer letters. 337(2): 210-217.
- Zhao Y, Cheng X, Wang G, Liao Y and Qing C 2020. Linalool inhibits 22Rv1 prostate cancer cell proliferation and induces apoptosis. Oncology Letters. 20(6): 1-1.
- Zhong W, Peng J, Wu D, Han Z, Bi X and Dai Q 2008. Ki-67 and PCNA expression in prostate cancer and benign prostatic hyperplasia. Clinical and investigative medicine. E8-E15.
- Zhou M, Liu X, Li Z, Huang Q, Li F and Li CY 2018. Caspase-3 regulates the migration, invasion and metastasis of colon cancer cells. International journal of cancer. 143(4): 921-930.
- Zhu W, Friedman H and Klein TW 1998. Δ 9-tetrahydrocannabinol induces apoptosis in macrophages and lymphocytes: involvement of Bcl-2 and caspase-1. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 286(2): 1103-1109.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

SUPPLEMENTATION

Immunohistochemistry of CD31 (PECAM-1)

The paraffin-embedded tissues were cut into a section of 4 µm-thick and placed in the positive charged glass slides, air-dried at RT. The specimens were deparaffinized with xylenes, rehydrated with alcohol, and then washed with running water and distilled water. The slides were pretreated for antigen retrieval, using Citrate Buffer (pH 6.0) for 20 minutes in autoclave at 121°C. Endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched within a chamber containing 3% of H₂O₂ for 10 minutes at RT. For blocking non-specific antibodies, all specimens were blocked with 1% bovine serum albumin for 30 minutes at 37°C. Then, the primary antibody (anti-CD31/PECAM-1, Cat. Num. sc-376764, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Oregon, USA, at dilution 1:500) was applied and incubated overnight at 4°C. Subsequently, the secondary antibody was following incubated, using a biotinylated goat antimouse/anti-rabbit antibody (Envision, Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) for 1 hour at RT. A freshly prepared 3, 3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) solution (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) was added to visualize the colored reaction. Finally, the slides were immersed in distilled water, counterstained with Meyer's hematoxylin stain, dehydrated within graded alcohol, and permanently mounted. The stained specimens of CD31 (PECAM-1) were captured by the digital imaging system with an HPF (40X, area equals 2.37 mm²).



Figure 1: The immunoexpression of CD31 (PECAM-1) among the NC group, PC group, and the treatment groups with THC:CBD at a dose of 1 mg/kg BW, 5 mg/kg BW, and 10 mg/kg BW. The CD31 (PECAM-1) positive labeling in the blood vessels of the border zone (a) and inside of the xenograft tumors (b) (DAB labeled, Mayer's hematoxylin counterstained, 40X, scale bar = 50μ m).

VITA

NAME	QUANG TRUNG LE
DATE OF BIRTH	19 March 1994
PLACE OF BIRTH	Vietnam
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	Can Tho University, Vietnam
HOME ADDRESS	Phu Quoi Hamlet, Tich Thien Village, Tra On District, Vinh
	Long Province, Vietnam
PUBLICATION	1. Le Quang Trung, Anudep Rungsipipat, Siriwan Sakarin,
	Nuntana Meesiripan, Suleeporn Sanggrajang, Nuntakan
1	Suwanpidokkul, Piyaporn Prayakprom, Chatchada
	Bodhibukkana, Vipada Khaowroongrueng, Kankanit
غا م	Suriyachan, Somchai Thanasittichai, Attasit Srisubat,
	Pattamaporn Surawongsin, Kasem Rattanapinyopituk
	(2022) Anticancer effects of cannabinoids on human
	pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma xenograft model:
	immunohistochemistry evaluation. Thai Journal Veterinary
จุหา	Medicine. 52 (Suppl.): 223-225.
	2. Trung Quang Le, Latticha Pluemhathaikij, Katriya
	Chankow, Araya Radtanakatikanon, Anudep Rungsipipat,
	Kasem Rattanapinyopituk (2022) Case report: BCL-2 and
	CD31 immunoexpression related to clinical and
	histopathological evaluation of renal dysplasia in a Welsh
	Corgi Puppy. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:995765. doi:
	10.3389/fvets.2022.995765